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INTRODUCTION 
“We’ve reviewed the content, and didn’t find a violation of our policies, so no 

action will be taken at this time.” That is what Twitter wrote to a 16-year-old boy 

who was begging for help. Twitter’s refusal to help came after it reviewed child sex 

abuse material (“CSAM”) depicting the boy and another child that was being viewed 

hundreds of thousands of times on its platform.1  

“What do you mean you don’t see a problem?” the boy responded. “We both 

are minors right now and were minors at the time these videos were taken. We both 

were 13 years of age. We were baited, harassed, and threatened to take these videos 

that are now being posted without our permission.”2  

Seven days earlier, the boy—John Doe #1—had written to Twitter in 

desperation. A sexually graphic video of him and another child—John Doe #2—

were being widely distributed on Twitter.  

The video was being viewed and shared, or “re-tweeted,” at an astronomical 

rate and everyone they knew—peers, school administrators, teachers, parents—saw 

the video. Isolated with the anguish, embarrassment, and pressure of facing others 

who might know about the video, John Doe #1 became suicidal and John Doe #2 

1 2-ER-152 at ¶ 120. 
2 2-ER-154—55 at ¶123. 
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stopped going to school.  John Doe #1 and his mother, Jane Doe, turned to the most 

likely place to remove the CSAM – after all, under federal law, Twitter was supposed 

to voluntarily take good faith steps to remove this type of material.  See 47 U.S.C. § 

230(c).   

John Doe #1 and Jane Doe were horrified when after several days of delays, 

after age and identity verification, and after conducting an internal investigation into 

the video, Twitter refused to remove the video and the CSAM continued to circulate 

on Twitter. Just two days after John Doe #1 first contacted Twitter, the following 

screenshot was taken: 

 

At that moment, the CSAM of the boys had been viewed 167,000 times, re-

tweeted 2,223 times, and “liked” over 6,640 times. Of course, this picture doesn’t 

show how many times it was screen captured, downloaded, or otherwise shared 

beyond Twitter. It remained on Twitter another seven days—so the full extent of its 

circulation and distribution is much higher than these numbers.  

The boys and their families were desperate. 

Eventually help came, but not from Twitter. They were able to connect with 

an agent with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security. The agent confirmed that 
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the images were CSAM, contacted Twitter, and directed that they be removed. 

Finally, only after the intervention of law enforcement, the illegal CSAM was 

removed from Twitter and reported to the National Center for Missing and Exploited 

Children (“NCMEC”).  

This case is about whether technology corporations should be able to 

knowingly profit from CSAM and sex-trafficking with impunity.  It is not about 

whether liability should attach for failure to detect harmful content or a good-faith 

screening mistake, because neither situation is present in the facts of this case. 

Twitter knew the CSAM was on its platform, not because it attempted to screen for 

it, but because Plaintiff John Doe #1 and his mother told Twitter about it, and it was 

apparent upon review.  

Congress has expressly directed that Section 230 of the Communications 

Decency Act (“CDA 230”) shall not be construed to limit or impair sex-trafficking 

claims brought under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1591 and 1595. At this stage, Plaintiffs have 

alleged enough to plausibly state sex-trafficking claims against Twitter. There is no 

Section 230 immunity for CSAM as it is not content over which online 

intermediaries make editorial decisions. It is contraband and knowing possession is 

illegal. Twitter knowingly received, possessed, and distributed CSAM of the 

Plaintiffs in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A.   
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Twitter argues that Plaintiffs, who have suffered tremendously, can never 

move to discovery on any claims. But Section 230 does not give Twitter carte 

blanche for violating child pornography and sex trafficking laws.  This appeal and 

cross-appeal are about whether Plaintiffs can have the chance to prove their claims 

in federal court.  

    
JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 
The District Court has jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1331, and 

1367, as well as 18 U.S.C. §§ 1595(a) and 2255. 

On August 19, 2021, the District Court entered an order granting in part and 

denying in part Twitter’s Motion to Dismiss (“MTD”). 1-ER-57. On October 26, 

2021, the District Court granted Twitter’s motion for certification of an interlocutory 

appeal. 1-ER-59. On November 5, 2021, Twitter petitioned this Court for 

interlocutory review. On November 15, 2021, Plaintiffs cross-petitioned for 

interlocutory review. On January 21, 2022, this Court granted both the petition and 

cross-petitions for permission to appeal. 2-ER-223. This Court has jurisdiction based 

on 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). 
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ISSUES PRESENTED (TWITTER’S APPEAL) 
 

(1) Have Plaintiffs stated a plausible beneficiary-liability sex-trafficking 

claim under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1591(a)(2) and 1595(a) when they allege actual knowledge 

because Twitter knew—and confirmed it knew—every aspect of the abuse of the 

Plaintiffs on its platform, allowed the abuse to continue, and benefited from the 

abuse? 

(2) Congress amended CDA 230 with FOSTA directing that nothing in the 

section “shall be construed to impair or limit “any claim in a civil action brought 

under [18 U.S.C. § 1595] if the conduct underlying the claim constitutes a violation 

of section 1591. . . .”  Was the District Court correct that this language facilitates 

and does not limit the ability of victims of online trafficking to pursue civil remedy 

claims against internet companies under 1595?    

 
ISSUES PRESENTED (PLAINTIFFS’ CROSS-APPEAL) 

 
(1) Does Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act immunize 

Twitter’s knowing violations of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A’s prohibitions relating to CSAM 

when the alleged violative conduct does not attempt to treat Twitter as the publisher 

or speaker of the child pornography? 
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(2) Have Plaintiffs stated a plausible claim for direct sex-trafficking liability 

under 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1) when they alleged that Twitter knowingly obtained, 

maintained, provided, and advertised the Plaintiffs through CSAM?3 

 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Statutory Background 

A. Congress Authorizes Civil Claims for Child Victims of CSAM 
In 1986, Congress created a private right of action for children who were 

victims of CSAM.4 The cause of action, codified at 18 U.S.C. § 2255, (also referred 

to as “Masha’s Law”), has been expanded to include violations of 18 U.S.C. § 

2252A. In 2006, Congress noted:  

The illegal production, transportation, distribution, receipt, advertising 
and possession of child pornography [] as well as the transfer of custody 
of children for the production of child pornography, is harmful to the 
physiological, emotional, and mental health of the children depicted in 

 

3 Statutory authorities are presented as an addendum to this brief. 
4 This brief refers to “child pornography” as “child sex abuse material” or “CSAM” 
because it better captures the harmful nature of the material. See generally U.S. 
Dep’t of Justice, Child Pornography, https://www.justice.gov/criminal-ceos/child-
pornography (last visited Aug. 3, 2022) (noting that the statutory term “fails to 
describe the true horror that is faced by countless children every year.”); see also 
Nat’l Ctr. for Missing & Exploited Child., Child Sex Abuse Material, 
https://www.missingkids.org/theissues/csam (last visited 08/04/22) (the term 
CSAM “most accurately reflect[s] what is depicted – the sexual abuse and 
exploitation of children.”).  
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child pornography and has a substantial and detrimental effect on 
society as a whole.5 
 

Congress also noted that “technological advances have had the unfortunate result of 

greatly increasing the interstate market in child pornography.” Id. at § 501(1)(C). 

Finally, Congress declared that “[t]he government has a compelling State interest in 

protecting children from those who sexually exploit them, and this interest extends 

to stamping out the vice of child pornography at all levels in the distribution chain.” 

Id. at § 501(2)(C) (emphasis added).  

Importantly, § 2255 allows victims to pursue claims against anyone who has 

violated a federal law concerning CSAM when the victim has suffered a resulting 

personal injury. It does not matter if the defendant is the original producer of the 

CSAM, a distributor, or a simple possessor. Id. Victims have a right of action against 

the direct perpetrators of their exploitation, but also against anyone who violated 

CSAM laws—including internet companies. 

B. Congress Enacts CDA 230 amid concerns about materials that are 
inappropriate for children on the internet  

In 1996, Congress enacted CDA 230.6 The title of the provision announces its 

focus: “Protection for Private Blocking and Screening of Offensive Material”. Id. at 

 

5 Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006, PL 109–248, July 27, 
2006, 120 Stat 587 at § 501(1)(A). 
6 See generally, Telecommunications Act of 1996, PL 104–104, February 8, 1996, 
110 Stat 56. 
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§ 509, and section (c), titled “Protection for ‘Good Samaritan’ Blocking and 

Screening of Offensive Material,” provides a civil immunity to internet service 

providers who voluntarily and in good faith take action to restrict access to or 

availability of a variety of harmful material. 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(2).  

This language demonstrates that Congress’s priority, even during the 

internet’s early development, was ensuring that there would also be ongoing 

advances of the ability to protect children from harmful material. See also Carafano 

v. Metrosplash.com, Inc., 339 F.3d 1119, 1122 (9th Cir. 2003) (noting that Congress 

enacted § 230 in part “to encourage voluntary monitoring for offensive or obscene 

material.”). 

C. Congress Criminalizes Trafficking  
 

In 2000, Congress passed the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (“TVPA”). 

Congress also specifically included image-based sexual exploitation within its 

findings, expressing concern about the “sexual exploitation of persons, … involving 

activities related to prostitution, pornography, sex tourism, and other commercial 

sexual services.”7 The TVPA enhanced existing criminal punishments for certain 

 

 
7 Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000, PL 106–386, 
October 28, 2000, 114 Stat 1464 at § 102(b)(2) (emphasis added). 
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forms of human trafficking, and also created new criminal provisions to prohibit 

forced labor (section 1589), trafficking as to peonage, slavery, involuntary servitude, 

or forced labor (section 1590), and sex trafficking of children or by force, fraud, or 

coercion (section 1591). Id. 

 
D. Congress Authorizes Civil Claims Against Traffickers  

 
Through the Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of 2003, 

Congress both reauthorized the TVPA’s criminal provisions, and created a new civil 

remedy—section 1595—to allow victims of certain crimes to sue their abusers for 

damages in federal court.8 Under the newly authorized section 1595, victims could 

sue “the perpetrator” of criminal violations of the previously enacted sections 1589 

(forced labor), 1590 (trafficking as to peonage, slavery, involuntary servitude, or 

forced labor), or 1591 (sex trafficking). Id.  

In response to the growing epidemic of trafficking over the internet, Congress 

again amended the TVPA in 2008, to become the TVPRA in its current form. 

Through the 2008 amendment, Congress substantially enhanced victims’ civil 

recourse by expanding civil actions beyond perpetrators to include claims against 

anyone who “knowingly benefits, financially or by receiving anything of value from 

 

8 Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of 2003, PL 108–193, 
December 19, 2003, 117 Stat 2875 § 3. 
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participation in a venture which that person knew or should have known has engaged 

in” trafficking (i.e., third-party beneficiaries of trafficking).9  

 
E. Congress Confirms Internet Companies Do Not Have Section 230 

Immunity from Civil Sex-Trafficking Claims  
 

In 2018, Congress amended Section 230 of the CDA, to directly address the 

nexus between the internet and sex trafficking. The legislation, known as the Allow 

States and Victims to Fight Online Sex Trafficking Act (“FOSTA”), directly states 

its purpose: 

It is the sense of Congress that— 
(1) section 230 of the Communications Act of 1934 (47 U.S.C. 230; 
commonly known as the “Communications Decency Act of 1996”) was 
never intended to provide legal protection to websites that unlawfully 
promote and facilitate prostitution and websites that facilitate 
traffickers in advertising the sale of unlawful sex acts with sex 
trafficking victims; 
(2) websites that promote and facilitate prostitution have been reckless 
in allowing the sale of sex trafficking victims and have done nothing to 
prevent the trafficking of children and victims of force, fraud, and 
coercion; and 
(3) clarification of such section is warranted to ensure that such section 
does not provide such protection to such websites.10 
 

 

9 William Wilberforce Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of 2008, 
PL 110–457, December 23, 2008, 122 Stat 5044 at § 221 (“Enhancement of Civil 
Action”) 
 
10 Allow States and Victims to Fight Online Sex Trafficking Act of 2017, Pub. 
Law. No. 115-164 (Apr. 11, 2018) § 1 (emphasis added). 
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Among other things, Congress was concerned about a recent decision by the 

First Circuit that dismissed the civil claims of victims who were trafficked on the 

website backpage.com under § 230(c)(1).11 Congress chose to address the 

backpage.com holding by amending § 230: “Nothing in this section … shall be 

construed to impair or limit [ ]any claim in a civil action brought under section 1595 

of Title 18, if the conduct underlying the claim constitutes a violation of section 1591 

of that title. . . .” 47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(5)(A). 

As its name suggests, FOSTA was enacted to address the scourge of sex 

trafficking online. The legislation therefore directly singled out TVPRA claims that 

redressed sex trafficking (i.e. § 1591) from CDA 230 immunity. 47 U.S.C. § 

230(e)(5)(A). FOSTA does not mention or affect other forms of trafficking that are 

prohibited by the TVPRA. See generally, Chapter 77 of Title 18 “Peonage, Slavery, 

and Trafficking in Persons.” 

  

 

11 See H.R. Rep. No. 115-572 at 4-5 (2018); S. Rep. No. 115-199 at 2, n. 6 (2018) 
(both referencing Doe No. 1 v. Backpage.com, LLC, 817 F. 3d 12, 19-22 (1st Cir. 
2016)). 
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II. Factual Background 

A. The Twitter Platform and Sexual Exploitation 
Twitter is one of the most popular social media platforms in the world. 2-ER-

125 at¶ 23.12 Twitter enables users to communicate online in brief posts called 

“tweets.” Twitter also allows users to post photos, videos, GIFs, voice, and extra 

characters. 2-ER-126 at ¶ 26. Twitter also enables “re-tweeting”—the reposting of 

content that has already been posted. Re-tweeting is a popular feature because it 

allows users to spread information at a high speed and on a broad scale. Id. at ¶ 27.  

Twitter monetizes its platform by selling advertisements, selling access to its 

Application Program Interface (“API”), and through data licensing. Id. at ¶ 25. Over 

80% of Twitter’s revenue comes from advertising. 2-ER-127—30 ¶¶ 30-41. Twitter 

has detailed knowledge of its users’ activities. It uses that knowledge to draw 

customers for its advertising and data services by demonstrating that active Twitter 

users can be reached. 2-ER-130 at ¶ 39. As long as content on Twitter’s platform 

remains live, Twitter monetizes that content regardless of whether it is contrary to 

Twitter’s own policies or if it otherwise promotes illegal conduct. This means that 

Twitter directly profits from content that depicts rape, child sexual abuse, and other 

illegal activity. 2-ER-134 at ¶¶ 53-54. 

 

12 All citations to the record with a specific paragraph number cite to the First 
Amended Complaint (“FAC”), which appears at 2-ER-120—211. 
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Twitter claims it has a “zero-tolerance child sexual exploitation policy.” 2-

ER-135—36 at ¶¶ 56-57. But Twitter permits large amounts of human trafficking 

and commercial sexual exploitation material on its platform, including CSAM. 2-

ER-138—39 at ¶¶ 61-62, 70. CSAM and sex trafficking are highly sought after on 

Twitter. Id. at ¶ 71. Because of Twitter’s permissive practices, it is a popular 

platform with those wishing to view, buy, sell, or trade CSAM and other forms of 

sexual exploitation. Id. The popularity of sexually exploitive practices on its 

platform results in significant revenue to Twitter. Id.  

Twitter offers search-related features that make it easier for users to find 

content, such as the ability to create hashtags and Twitter’s smart-search feature. 2-

ER-140 at ¶¶ 72-74. Several hashtags on Twitter are associated with CSAM. 2-ER-

141 at ¶ 75. These hashtags, such as #megalinks, only exist to openly solicit, procure, 

obtain, distribute and/or trade CSAM. Id. If users search for the same hashtags on 

Twitter, the search also brings up promoted tweets or advertisements, which are 

displayed intermixed between tweets that include the hashtag and overwhelmingly 

pertain to CSAM. Id. at ¶ 76.  

Twitter profits from every user who interacts with an advertisement accessed 

while viewing CSAM on its platform. 2-ER-127—30 at ¶¶ 30-36. The Twitter 

platform search feature is designed to make suggestions designed to help the user 

find more of the same material being searched for. If a user is searching for hashtags 
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only used for trade and distribution of child pornography, or illegal, CSAM content, 

the search feature enables that user with suggestions to find more illegal content and 

ultimately, more CSAM. 2-ER-144 at ¶¶ 80-82. 

Twitter has been made aware of these hashtags on many occasions but 

continues to index them and utilize them for advertising revenue. Id. at ¶ 83. Twitter 

maintains a reporting system to allow users to report suspected forms of abuse and 

exploitation, including CSAM. 2-ER-136—37 at ¶ 58; 2-ER-176. On December 25, 

2019, Twitter received a report stating that seven different user accounts were 

posting “obvious child porn” on its platform. 2-ER-148 at ¶ 101. Among the 

accounts reported was the Twitter user @StraightBross, which included specific 

links to the tweets that it alleged were CSAM. Id. Twitter assigned the report at claim 

number, but ultimately took no action against the @StraightBross account. Id. at ¶ 

102.   

B. The Sex Trafficking of John Doe # 1 and John Doe # 2 
 

The Plaintiffs in this action, John Doe #1 and John Doe # 2, were 13-14 years 

old when their ordeal began. 2-ER-145 at ¶ 87. In 2017, John Doe #1 began 

interacting on Snapchat with someone he believed was a girl that went to his school, 

but in reality, was one or more sex trafficker(s) (“Traffickers”). Id. In one interaction, 

John Doe #1 communicated with the Traffickers while he was with his friend and 

classmate, John Doe #2. Id. at ¶ 88. When the Traffickers realized that both boys 
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were together, they suggested that they exchange nude photos. Id. Believing that 

they were interacting with someone their age, both boys exchanged nude photos 

and/or videos with the Traffickers, who sent them a photo of what appeared to be 

teen girls. 2-ER-146 at ¶ 89.  

After the exchange, the Traffickers began extorting Plaintiffs, threatening 

them that if they did not provide more sexually graphic photos and/or videos of 

themselves engaged in sexual activity, the images that they had already sent would 

be sent to their parents, coach, pastor, and others in the community. Id. at ¶ 90. John 

Doe # 1 and John Doe # 2 initially complied with the Traffickers’ demands by 

providing additional pictures and/or videos of themselves performing sexual acts. 

Id. at ¶ 91. Because they were both minors at the time, the images and video created 

are CSAM. Id. at ¶ 92.  Plaintiffs received something of value for this nightmare – 

their reputations were not harmed in exchange for providing the imagery depicting 

sexual acts.  2-ER-147 at ¶ 97. The Traffickers received something of value as well 

– they received CSAM images for personal sexual gratification, collection, 

distribution, or sale of the CSAM images.  Id. at ¶ 98. The Traffickers also attempted 

to arrange an in-person meeting with John Doe # 1, but fortunately, this meeting 

never took place. 2-ER-146 at ¶ 93. 

John Doe # 1 attempted to break off all communication with the Traffickers, 

and after some time, further harassment, communication ceased. 2-ER-146—47 at 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 22 of 95



 
16 

¶¶ 94-96. About three years later, John Doe # 1 and John Doe # 2 were horrified 

when a compilation video depicting all the images and videos of their sex trafficking 

was being shared and retweeted on Twitter by their classmates at school. 2-ER-149 

at ¶ 105-07.  John Doe # 1 faced teasing, harassment, bullying and became suicidal. 

Id. at ¶ 106. John Doe #2 stopped attending school for many weeks. Id. at ¶¶ 107-

08. John Doe # 1 sought help from his parents. His mother immediately contacted 

school officials, local law enforcement, and reached out to Twitter directly through 

its content-reporting interface. Id. at ¶¶ 109-10.  

On January 21, 2020, John Doe # 1 made a complaint to Twitter stating that 

CSAM depicting him had been posted by the user @fitmalesblog.2-ER-149—50 at 

¶ 112. Without removing the post or even suspending the posting account, Twitter 

replied and asked him to confirm his identity. 2-ER-150 at ¶ 113. John Doe #1 

responded the same day providing his drivers’ license and confirming that he was a 

minor when the images were created. Id. at ¶ 114. 

On January 22, 2020, John Doe # 1’s mother made two complaints to Twitter 

about the CSAM depicting her son—one report for each account that she was aware 

of that had posted the CSAM. 2-ER-151 at ¶ 115. The two accounts she named were 

@fitmalesblog and @straightbross; the latter is the same account that was previously 

reported to Twitter a month earlier. 2-ER-148 at ¶ 101.  
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Twitter responded with automated messages, but otherwise did not interact 

with John Doe # 1’s mother. 2-ER-151—52 at ¶¶ 116-17. After waiting four (4) 

days, she followed up on January 26, 2020, requesting a response and stating “[y]ou 

are allowing child pornography to be in your web site for over a week now. . . . We 

want them removed immediately.” Id. at ¶ 119. 

After another two (2) days passed and the post accumulated numerous 

additional views and retweets, on January 28, 2020, Twitter sent John Doe #1 an 

email stating that Twitter “reviewed the content, and didn’t find a violation of [its] 

policies, so no action will be taken at this time. 2-ER-152—53 at ¶ 120. Twitter 

refused to remove the illegal child pornography from its platform and continued to 

knowingly allow the distribution of child pornography. Id.  

The CSAM depicting John Doe #1 and John Doe #2 was the subject of 

substantial user engagement on Twitter. 2-ER-155 at ¶ 124. Only, two days after 

John Doe #1 first contacted Twitter, the video compilation of the CSAM images had 

been viewed 167,000 times. It was also “re-tweeted” 2,223 times, and “liked” 6,640 

times. Id. (screenshot showing user engagement). The CSAM was also commented 

on by multiple users, indicating that Twitter users believed the images and/or video 

were of children. 2-ER-153 at ¶ 121. Additionally, the word “twinks” was used to 

describe the children in the videos, which is a term used to describe young boys or 

men having certain boyish features. 2-ER-155 at ¶ 126.   
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In addition to refusing to remove the CSAM, Twitter did not report it to the 

NCMEC after it was contacted by John Doe #1 and his mother. 2-ER-156 at ¶ 127. 

Eventually, through a mutual contact, John Doe # 1’s mother met with an agent of 

the U.S. Department of Homeland Security. Id. at ¶ 128. That federal agent directed 

Twitter to remove the CSAM; Twitter finally acquiesced. Id. at ¶¶ 128-29.  

Twitter did not block the IP address or take other actions to stop whoever was 

behind the @StraightBross account from distributing CSAM. When this action was 

filed on January 20, 2021, the user was still posting CSAM on Twitter as 

@BrossStraight—over a year after the user was reported for posting CSAM. 2-ER-

148 at 101; 2-ER-156 at ¶ 131.   

III. Procedural Background 

This action was filed on January 20, 2021. 2-ER-215. Plaintiffs amended their 

complaint on April 7, 2021 (“FAC”). 2-ER-218. Plaintiffs raised thirteen (13) claims 

in the FAC based upon federal laws concerning sex-trafficking and CSAM, as well 

as California constitutional and statutory claims, and common law claims. 2-ER-

157—70  (detailing all claims). Twitter moved to dismiss the FAC based on CDA 

230(c)(1) on May 7, 2021. 2-ER-219.  

The District Court held a hearing on Twitter’s Motion to Dismiss on August 

6, 2021. 2-ER-221. On August 19, 2021, the District Court issued an Order granting 

in part and denying in part Twitter’s MTD (“Order”). 2-ER-221. Specifically, the 
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Order denied dismissal for Benefiting from A Sex Trafficking Venture, under 18 

U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2). The Order dismissed the balance of Plaintiffs’ claims based on 

CDA 230 immunity. 1-ER-3, 57.  

Twitter filed a Motion for Reconsideration, or in the Alternative, for 

Permission to Take an Interlocutory Appeal on October 4, 2021, and a Motion to 

Stay Discovery on October 15, 2021. 1-ER-222. The District Court elected not to 

reconsider its Order, but granted Twitter leave to file an interlocutory appeal on 

October 26, 2021. Id. at 223. The District Court stayed discovery pending this 

appeal. Id.    

On November 5, 2021, Twitter petitioned this Court for interlocutory review. 

On November 15, 2021, Plaintiffs cross-petitioned this Court for permission to 

appeal. On January 21, 2022, this Court granted both the petition and cross-petitions 

for permission to appeal. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
A. Twitter’s Appeal 

This court should affirm the District Court’s denial of Twitter’s MTD of 

Plaintiffs’ claim for beneficiary sex-trafficking liability.  

Twitter erroneously argues that any benefit must be derived in exchange for a 

Defendant’s direct participation in the sex trafficking venture.  But nothing in the 

statute requires a derivative benefit, obtained from the trafficking venture. Rather, 

the 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2) requires that the Defendant knowingly received a benefit 
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as a result of the sex-trafficking venture.  Plaintiffs have alleged that Twitter received 

financial benefits from the monetization of their platform and from the CSAM video 

of Plaintiffs and increased user interactions with the CSAM video of Plaintiffs. 

Twitter also erroneously argues that it did not participate in a venture because 

it did not make an “overt act” in furtherance of the venture.  This again, is not the 

legal standard.  Plaintiff only must allege that Twitter assisted, supported, or 

facilitated a violation of §1591, 18 U.S.C. §1591(e)(4), and Twitter did so by 

refusing to remove the CSAM after notice, and facilitating the massive distribution 

of the CSAM on their platform to other users. 

Twitter argues that it neither knew, nor has Plaintiff alleged, that Twitter 

should have known, that Plaintiffs were victims of sex trafficking.  But under the 

civil trafficking scienter standard, Plaintiffs have adequately alleged that Twitter 

both knew, and should have known, that Plaintiffs were sex-trafficking victims.  

John Doe #1 and his mother emailed Twitter and put it on notice that the illegal 

CSAM video derived from a “sex abuse situation,” that both Plaintiffs were minors 

when the video was made, and that they “were baited, harassed, and threatened to 

take these videos.”  Furthermore, Twitter checked identity and age verification as 

part of the review process. 

Twitter erroneously argues that the possession and distribution of a video 

depicting sex trafficking does not constitute a “commercial sex act” under §1591 
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and that Plaintiffs must allege a direct sexual encounter.  But to support this, Twitter 

relies on an inaccurate definition, as opposed to the definition provided within 

§1591.  A “commercial sex act” is “any sex act, on account of which anything of 

value is given to or received by any person.”  18 U.S.C. §1591(e)(3).  Plaintiffs have 

alleged that that Twitter received value both monetarily and from increased numbers 

of user interactions with the video, and Twitter users received value for access to 

and possession of illegal contraband and sexual gratification from the video of 

Plaintiffs.  Furthermore, Plaintiffs arguments conform with both Congressional 

intent and jurisprudence. 

Twitter again erroneously interpretates the §1591 statute – this time to suggest 

that the language “will be caused to engage in a commercial sex act” means that only 

sex acts in the future are actionable.  This interpretation would lead to absurd results 

and would effectively prevent punishment for sex traffickers that had already 

harmed their victim.  This was the opposite of Congress’s intent. 

Twitter lastly attempts to manufacture an argument that would narrow the 

scope of the FOSTA amendment to CDA 230, ignoring the fact that it is a remedial 

statute and should be given a broad construction.  Twitter’s interpretation alters the 

plain language of the statute and attempts to require that the beneficiary-liability 

civil standard be modified to one akin to a criminal standard.  If this were to be 

upheld, it would obliterate the §1595’s civil scienter requirement for victims of 
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online trafficking.  Instead, the Court should appropriately read the FOSTA 

amendment in the spirit of the stated congressional intent – “nothing in this section 

[] shall be construed to impair or limit any claim in a civil action brought under 

section 1595 of Title 18, if the conduct underlying the claim constitutes a violation 

of section 1591 of that title. . . .”– and recognize it was intended to enlarge remedies 

for victims of online trafficking. See 47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(5)(A) 

B. Plaintiffs’ Cross-Appeal 

This Court should reverse the District Court’s granting of Twitter’s MTD of 

Plaintiffs’ claim for civil remedies related to CSAM and direct sex-trafficking 

liability. 

Twitter incorrectly alleged in its MTD that CDA 230 immunized it against 

any §2252A claims. Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that Twitter violated §2252A, a 

federal law prohibiting the creation, possession, and distribution of CSAM. But 

CDA 230 does not immunize violations of federal CSAM laws for two reasons. 

First, Twitter had notice and knowledge that the video of Plaintiffs was CSAM 

because John Doe #1 notified Twitter and sent age verification, to which Twitter 

responded by affirmatively refusing to remove the illegal images. Second, Plaintiffs’ 

§ 2252A claims do not treat Twitter as the “publisher” or “speaker” of information 

because CSAM is not information covered by Section 230—it is illegal contraband. 
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Additionally, CDA 230 was codified in 1996, and two years later, §2255—

which gives a civil cause of action for violations of CSAM laws—was codified.  It 

should be presumed that Congress knows of its former legislation and passes new 

laws to co-exist, not conflict, with prior standing statutes.  Owner-Op. Indep. Drivers 

Ass’n of Am., Inc. v. Skinner, 931 F.2d 582, 586 (9th Cir. 1991).  Both §2255 and 

CDA 230 were codified to co-exist, as CDA 230 does not immunize violations of 

§2255 that relate to CSAM. 

Twitter also incorrectly alleged in its MTD that Plaintiffs did not state a claim 

for direct sex-trafficking liability.  In dismissing this claim, the District Court held 

that Twitter could not obtain, maintain, or provide a person within the meaning in 

18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1).  But under a plain-language reading of §1591 and the 

definitions of its predicate acts, Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged a claim for direct 

trafficking. 

Further, the District Court held that Plaintiffs did allege facts that might 

support the allegation that Twitter “advertised” Plaintiffs but dismissed the claims 

because Plaintiffs did not specifically use the verb “advertise” in the direct-

trafficking claim.  Read as a whole, however, the FAC plausibly alleges that they 

were advertised. The District Court erred by dismissing with prejudice when it 

should have dismissed with leave to amend and afford Plaintiffs an opportunity to 

cure any defects in the pleading. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 
This Court reviews de novo an order denying a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss. See Ernst & Haas Mgmt. Co., Inc. v. Hiscox, Inc., 23 F.4th 1195, 1199 (9th 

Cir. 2022). This Court “accept[s] all plausible allegations as true and construe[s] 

them in the light most favorable to the claim.” Olympic Forest Coal. v. Coast 

Seafoods Co., 884 F.3d 901, 905 (9th Cir. 2018). This entails examining the 

complaint as a whole and drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the Plaintiff. 

Khachatryan v. Blinken, 4 F.4th 841, 854 (9th Cir. 2021).   

This Court’s review of questions of statutory interpretation is also de novo. 

Fields v. Twitter, Inc., 881 F.3d 739, 743 (9th Cir. 2018). 

  
ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO TWITTER’S PRINCIPAL BRIEF 

 

The District Court correctly held that Plaintiffs stated a plausible claim for 

beneficiary-liability against Twitter under 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2) and § 1595(a). 

The first paragraph of § 1591 lays out the offense of direct sex trafficking. A direct-

trafficking violation occurs where a defendant “knowingly . . . recruits, entices, 

harbors, transports, provides, obtains, advertises, maintains, patronizes, or solicits 
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by any means a person. . . § 1591(a)(1).13 The next paragraph lays out the offense of 

benefiting from sex trafficking: 

 
Whoever knowingly…benefits, financially or by receiving anything of 
value, from participation in a venture which has engaged in an act 
described in violation of paragraph (1),  
 
knowing, or, except where the act constituting the violation of 
paragraph (1) is advertising, in reckless disregard of the fact, that [] the 
person has not attained the age of 18 years and will be caused to engage 
in a commercial sex act, shall be punished …. 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2). “Participation in a venture” means “knowingly assisting, 

supporting, or facilitating a violation of subsection (a)(1).” Id at § 1591(e)(4). 

Section 1591 is a criminal statute. Civil claims are available, however, under 18 

U.S.C. § 1595(a). 

 
I. Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged beneficiary trafficking violations against 

Twitter, and the District Court’s ruling should be affirmed. 

The District Court should be affirmed for three general reasons. First, the 

District Court was correct that that Plaintiffs plausibly alleged that Twitter 

knowingly benefited under the statute. Next, the District Court was correct that 

Twitter’s benefit came from participation in a venture, which it knew or should have 

 

13 In the cross-appeal, Plaintiffs are appealing the District Court dismissal of their 
direct-trafficking claim. See Cross-Appeal Argument § II, infra. 
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known was a violation of § 1591(a). Finally, Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged a 

beneficiary claim against Twitter.    

 
A. Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that Twitter knowingly received a 

benefit 
In order to bring a claim under both §§ 1591(a)(2) and § 1595, Plaintiffs must 

allege that Twitter knowingly received a benefit from participation in a venture. 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1591(a)(2), 1595(a). The District Court correctly found that Plaintiffs 

sufficiently alleged facts to meet the pleading requirement of the receipt of a 

knowing benefit.14 Twitter claims that it did not knowingly receive any “benefit” 

from its alleged sex trafficking, and erroneously offers that the benefit must be 

directly exchanged for participating in the sex act itself.  This argument is wrong 

because it applies a standard that is not in the statute itself. 

To state a claim under a section 1595(a) beneficiary theory,” Plaintiffs “must 

allege facts from which the Court can reasonably infer that” Twitter “knowingly 

benefit[ted] financially or by receiving anything of value[.]” 1-ER-46 (quoting B.M. 

at *4.).   This does not require that a benefit be “knowingly received in exchange 

for, participation in a sex-trafficking venture” but instead “merely requires that 

 

14 1-ER-46 (referencing B.M. v. Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, Inc., 2020 WL 
4368214 (N.D. Cal. 2020); M.A. v. Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, Inc., 425 F. Supp. 
3d 959 (S.D. Ohio 2019)). 
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Defendant knowingly receive a financial benefit from its relationship with the sex 

trafficker.” Id. 15 

Pointing to the Geiss and Noble decisions, Twitter argues that there must be 

“a causal relationship between affirmative conduct furthering the sex-trafficking 

venture and receipt of that benefit.  It also argues that any benefit must be “derived 

from ‘participation in the sex trafficking act itself, rather than a general benefit from 

the operation of one’s business.’” 1st Br. at 47 (quoting Geiss, 383 F. Supp. 3d at 

169; Noble, 335 F. Supp. 3d at 524). Neither case establishes that Plaintiffs benefit 

allegations are insufficient.  The decisions addressed beneficiary-liability claims 

against employees of Harvey Weinstein’s film company.16 Both courts found that 

the claims could not move forward against the employees because the benefits from 

their jobs had nothing to do with Mr. Weinstein’s trafficking.17 Here, Plaintiffs allege 

that Twitter benefited because of its refusal to remove CSAM depicting them, 

 

15 Numerous other courts have taken this approach. J.C. v. Choice Hotels Int’l, Inc., 
No. 20-CV-00155-WHO, 2020 WL 6318707, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 28, 2020); A.B. 
v. Marriott Int’l Inc., 455 F. Supp. 3d 171, 191 (E.D. Pa. 2020); Doe S.W. v. 
Lorain-Elyria Motel, Inc., No. 2:19-CV-1194, 2020 WL 1244192, at *5 (S.D. Ohio 
Mar. 16, 2020); S. Y. v. Naples Hotel Co., 476 F.Supp.3d 1251, 1255-56 (M.D. Fla. 
Aug. 5, 2020); A.B. v. Hilton Worldwide Holdings Inc., 484 F.Supp.3d 921, 935-
936 (D. Or. Sept. 8, 2020); M.A. v. Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, Inc., 425 F. Supp. 
3d 959, 965 (S.D. Ohio 2019). 
16 See Geiss v. Weinstein Co. Holdings LLC, 383 F. Supp. 3d 156, 169 (S.D. N.Y. 
2019); and Noble v. Weinstein, 335 F. Supp. 3d 504, 524 (S.D. N.Y. 2018). 
17 Geiss, 383 F. Supp. 3d at 169; Noble 335 F. Supp. 3d at 524. 
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allowing continued and increasing user interaction with the CSAM and continued 

generation of value. 

Twitter incorrectly states that Plaintiffs’ FAC “fails to show that Twitter 

received any benefits from the videos, let alone received benefits because of its 

alleged participation in Plaintiffs’ exploitation.” 1st Br. at 47-48. Plaintiffs plausibly 

allege that Twitter benefited from the hundreds of thousands of tweets, retweets, and 

other forms of user interaction on its platform of CSAM depicting the Plaintiffs.18 

Twitter knew that it was benefiting from this repeated tweeting of the CSAM 

because it benefits from all user engagement on its platform.19 Plaintiffs allege that 

80% of Twitter’s revenue comes from ads, 2-ER-126 at ¶ 25, and further allege that 

all tweets on its platform—including those of the CSAM of the Plaintiffs—are 

monetized by Twitter. 2-ER-53—54. Furthermore, Plaintiffs allege that Twitter 

benefitted substantially from their abuse in particular because of the significant user 

engagement, which Twitter observed when it reviewed the videos. 2-ER-145 at ¶ 

124.   

Twitter touts its “understanding of the interests of each account.” 2-ER-127 

at ¶ 31 (emphasis added). It tracks the daily activity of users on a per-account basis 

 

18 2-ER-134 at ¶¶ 52-54; 140—44 at ¶¶ 74-79; 164—65 at ¶¶ 196, 200. 
19 2-ER-126 at ¶ 25; 127—131 at ¶¶ 30-41; 134 at ¶¶ 52-54; 139—44 at ¶¶ 70-79. 
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to provide that information to prospective advertisers. 2-ER-130—31 ¶ at ¶ 41 (the 

“monetizable daily active usage” statistic). And it tells its users that all actions on 

Twitter, including following, tweeting, searches, views, and interactions may be 

used to “customize Twitter ads for you.” 2-ER-128 at ¶ 32. Twitter’s privacy policy 

informs users that all their activity on Twitter is tracked “to improve the content we 

show you, including ads and to improve the effectiveness of our own marketing.” 2-

ER-187 (Ex. B to the FAC). Twitter also monetizes the sale of access to the API and 

data collection. 2-ER-127—30 at ¶¶ 30, 33-41. Plaintiffs allege that Twitter allows 

hashtags related to CSAM to be associated with promoted tweets. 2-ER-141 at ¶ 76 

(screenshot of advertising appearing alongside CSAM hashtag). Likewise, the 

CSAM Video of Plaintiffs was viewed over 167,000 times, retweeted 2220 times, 

and remaining live an additional seven days resulting in substantially more views 

and retweets. 2-ER-155 at ¶ 124. “Read together, these allegations support a 

plausible inference that the [video] of Plaintiffs generated advertising and attracted 

users, both of which benefited Twitter.” 1-ER-46. 

Finally, contrary to Twitter’s claim in its brief—1st Br. at 48—the FAC 

specifically alleges that Twitter’s refusal to remove the CSAM of the Plaintiffs 

directly resulted in Twitter receiving a benefit. 2-ER-163 at ¶¶ 185-86. Once Twitter 

knew that CSAM of Plaintiffs was on its platform, it also knew that it was benefiting 

from the CSAM, and would continue to benefit from it, as long as it was live. 
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The District Court correctly concluded that Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged 

that Twitter knowingly benefited under § 1591(a)(2). 1-ER-46. Ultimately, Twitter’s 

contentions to the contrary are irrelevant. At this stage, the inferences from these 

allegations must be read in favor of Plaintiffs. Khachatryan v. Blinken, 4 F.4th 841, 

854 (9th Cir. 2021). 

 
B. Plaintiffs plausibly alleged that Twitter participated in a venture  
 
In order to bring a claim under both §§ 1591(a)(2) and § 1595, Plaintiffs must 

allege that Twitter participated in a sex trafficking venture. 18 U.S.C. §§ 1591(a)(2), 

1595(a). The District Court correctly found that Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged facts 

to meet the pleading requirement of the participation in a venture element.20   Twitter 

claims that it did not actively participate in a sex trafficking venture and applies a 

criminal standard to civil claims in contradiction to §1595. But Twitter relies on a 

misinterpretation of the statutory meaning of “participation in a venture” for a civil 

sex trafficking claim. 

To state a claim under the beneficiary-liability of 1595(a), Plaintiffs must 

allege that the defendant “knowingly benefit[ed] from participation in a venture 

which that person knew or should have known has engaged in a violation of [1591].” 

 

20 1-ER-41 (referencing M.A., 425 F. Supp. 3d at 970). 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 37 of 95



 
31 

18 U.SC. § 1595(a). “Venture” means “any group of two or more individuals 

associated in fact, whether or not a legal entity.” § 1591(e)(6). “Participation in a 

venture” means “knowingly assisting, supporting, or facilitating a violation of (a)(1). 

Id. at (e)(4). 

Twitter argues that the participation in a venture standard additionally requires 

a defendant make some “overt act” engaging in “active participation” in furtherance 

of a trafficking venture. It also argues that “mere negative acquiescence” does not 

constitute participation in a venture. 1st Br. at 45. Twitter’s principal authority for 

these propositions is the Sixth Circuit’s decision in U.S. v. Sectionare and its 

derivative line of caselaw.21 But Afyare and its progeny are not applicable to this 

case. 

In Afyare, the Sixth Circuit reviewed the government’s appeal of an order 

excluding evidence in a criminal case involving the charge of sex trafficking. Among 

other things, the government challenged the district court’s ruling as to the meaning 

of the word “venture” in § 1591(a)(2). 632 Fed. Appx. at 273; 279-287. Importantly, 

Afyare’s interpretation of “participation in a venture”—which was decided in 

 

21 See 1st Br. at 45 (citing 632 F. App’x 272, 286 (6th Cir. 2016)). Twitter 
additionally cites Doe v. Kik, 482 F. Supp. 3d 1242, 1251 (S.D. Fl. 2020); Geiss, 
383 F. Supp. 3d at 169; and Noble 335 F. Supp. 3d at 524—all for the same 
proposition. 1st Br. at 45. Each of these cases relies on Afyare for its analysis of the 
“participation in a venture” standard. 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 38 of 95



 
32 

2016—occurred before Congress gave that term its definition in 2018.22 Thus, the 

Sixth Circuit did not have the current standard (“knowingly assisting, supporting, or 

facilitating a violation of subsection (a)(1)”) to apply when it decided Afyare and it 

is no longer an accurate statement of “participation in a venture” under § 1591. 

Simply put, Afyare and the cases that follow it, such as Kik, apply a standard that has 

been superseded by Congress. 

Nevertheless, even if Afyare was an accurate articulation of the standard, 

Twitter has engaged in overt acts that furthered sex trafficking. It denied all requests 

to remove CSAM. Its denials came after it reviewed the CSAM, learned of its 

harmful and illegal character, as well as the substantial and ongoing user-interactions 

with the CSAM on its platform.  2-ER-148—56 at ¶¶ 101-131. Moreover, Twitter 

only removed the CSAM when it was required to do so by law enforcement. 2-ER-

156 at ¶¶ 128-29.  This is not “mere negative acquiescence” on Twitter’s part—it is 

knowingly benefiting from manifold, flagrant violations of 1591(a)(2).   

Plaintiffs have alleged violations of subsection § 1591(a)(1)—the possession 

and mass distribution of CSAM depicting them on Twitter. The person(s) who 

 

22 See Allow States and Victims to Fight Online Trafficking Act of 2017, Pub. L. 
No. 115-164 (Apr. 11, 2018) at § 5 “Ensuring Federal Liability for Publishing 
Information Designed to Facilitate Sex Trafficking or Otherwise Facilitating Sex 
Trafficking” (adding § 1591(e)(4)). 
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uploaded the CSAM of Plaintiffs on Twitter were participating in a venture because 

they were knowingly assisting, supporting, or facilitating a violation of subsection 

(a)(1).23  Further, Twitter itself assisted, supported, and facilitated these violations 

by deciding to continue the possession and distribution of the CSAM after it learned 

of its illegal nature.24  

C. Twitter knew or should have known that Plaintiffs were victims of 
sex trafficking 

In order to bring a claim under both §§ 1591(a)(2) and § 1595, Plaintiffs must 

allege that Twitter participated in a sex trafficking venture which Twitter knew or 

should have known that Plaintiffs were victims of sex trafficking. 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1591(a)(2), 1595(a). The District Court correctly found that Plaintiffs sufficiently 

alleged facts to meet the pleading requirement of the scienter element.25  Twitter 

claims that it did not know, nor should it have known, that Plaintiffs were sex 

trafficking victims. But Twitter’s arguments fail, as Plaintiffs clearly pled that 

Twitter both actually knew, and it should have known, that Plaintiffs were victims 

of sex trafficking. 

 

23 2-ER-146—47 at ¶¶ 92, 99; 153--4 at ¶¶ 121-22; 155 at ¶¶ 124-5; 158 at ¶ 142. 
24 2-ER-149—56  at ¶¶ 112-129; 159 at ¶ 152; 161 at ¶ 172; 163 at ¶ 185. 
25 1-ER-43 (referencing M.A., 425 F. Supp. 3d at 968; A.B. v. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 
455 F.Supp.3d 171, 189-91 (E.D. Pa. 2020)).   
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 The District Court agreed with the M.A. court, and others, that the “should 

have known” mens rea standard in § 1595(a) applies to Plaintiffs’ beneficiary-

liability claim. The M.A. court stated that “applying the definition of ‘participation 

in a venture’ provided for in § 1591(e) to the requirements under § 1595 would void 

the ‘known or should have known’ language of § 1595.” 1-ER-37 (quoting M.A., 

425 F. Supp. 3d at 969.). This conclusion is based in part on the maxim that courts 

should construe both statutes so that “no clause, sentence, or word shall be 

superfluous, void, or insignificant.” M.A., 425 F. Supp 3d at 969; and see 1-ER-38 

(citing cases); see also Doe #1 v. Red Roof Inns, Inc., 21 F.4th 714, 724 (11th Cir. 

2021) (rejecting hotel franchisors’ formulation because it would require “a plaintiff 

to prove that the defendant knowingly facilitated a violation, making the “should 

have known” language superfluous”). 

The District Court held that Plaintiffs’ allegations met the constructive 

knowledge standard. 1-ER-47—48. While the Court did not address whether 

Plaintiffs could meet an actual knowledge standard, their allegations in fact do 

satisfy either standard. After age verification, Twitter knew the CSAM was of 

minors and created through coercion. As John Doe #1 explained: “We both are 

minors right now and were minors at the time these videos were taken. We both were 

13 years of age. We were baited, harassed, and threatened to take these videos that 
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are now being posted without our permission.” 2-ER-154—55 at ¶ 123. See also ER 

149-52 at ¶¶ 112-119. 

Accordingly, Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged Twitter’s participation in the sex-

trafficking venture:  Plaintiffs alleged Twitter knew or should have known that they 

were minors subject to commercial sexual exploitation through CSAM distribution 

and participated in their exploitation. Ultimately, whether Plaintiffs claims should 

be held to an actual or constructive knowledge standard does not matter for Twitter's 

attempt to dismiss the beneficiary-liability claim.  

The District Court correctly concluded that Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged 

that Twitter knew or should have known that Plaintiffs were victims of sex 

trafficking. 1-ER-48.  

D. The distribution of CSAM for value is a “commercial sex act”  
 
To bring a claim under both §§ 1591(a)(2) and 1595, Plaintiffs must allege 

that they will be caused to engage in a “commercial sex act.” 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1591(a)(2), 1595(a). The District Court correctly found that Plaintiffs sufficiently 

alleged facts to meet the pleading requirement that Plaintiffs were engaged in a 

commercial sex act.  1-ER-47.  Twitter argues that a commercial sex act did not 

occur because Plaintiffs must allege a direct sexual encounter with the Defendant. 

1st Br. at 39.  But Twitter’s arguments lack merit, as they rely on irrelevant 

definitions and caselaw that are not pertinent to the federal sex trafficking statute. 
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A commercial sex act is “any sex act, on account of which anything of value 

is given to or received by any person.” 18 U.S.C. 1591(e)(3) (emphasis added).26 

The District Court correctly found that the distribution and exchange of CSAM is a 

“commercial sex act” under 18 U.S.C. § 1591. 1-ER-47. The initial creation of the 

CSAM depicting the Plaintiffs is a “commercial sex act” for which the original 

traffickers received value (the CSAM images themselves) and the Plaintiffs received 

value (being left alone and in peace from the trafficker’s threats). Moreover, as the 

CSAM is transferred, it remains a commercial sex act, for which both distributors 

and receivers obtain value. See U.S. v. Cook, 782 F.3d 983, 988-90 (8th Cir. 2015) 

(sexual acts, videos, and photographs can all be “things of value” under § 

1591(a)(2)).  

In this case, Plaintiffs allege that Twitter users receive the value of obtaining 

CSAM for personal gratification, resale value, or both. 2-ER-158 at ¶ 142. Twitter 

receives the value of thousands of user interactions that it can monetize and use to 

draw more advertisers. 2-ER-159 at ¶¶ 152, 154. As Plaintiffs further alleged, the 

CSAM depicting the Plaintiffs was originally created through extortive threats and 

 

26 The definition of child pornography is similarly broad: “any visual depiction. . . 
of sexually explicit conduct, where [] the production of such visual depiction 
involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct. . . .” 18 U.S.C. § 
2256(8)(A). 
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blackmail. 2-ER-146 at ¶ 90. This constituted a violation of § 1591. 2-ER-158—59 

at ¶¶ 149-52. And the images created of the Plaintiffs performing sexual acts as 

minors constituted CSAM. 2-ER—146 at ¶ 92.  

The trafficking then moved to the Twitter platform. 2-ER-147 at ¶ 99; 158—

59 at ¶¶ 142, 152. While the initial trafficking of Plaintiffs resulted in the creation 

of CSAM, the trafficking on Twitter occurred through the possession and 

distribution of the same CSAM broadly on the platform. Since a commercial sex act 

is “any sex act, on account of which anything of value is given to or received by any 

person,” 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1) and (e)(3), a memorialized sex act, such as CSAM 

images or videos, is a commercial sex act where there is receipt of value. Plaintiffs 

alleged that both Twitter and Twitter users received value on account of the CSAM 

of the Plaintiffs. 2-ER-158—59 ¶¶ 142, 154. As a result, Plaintiffs have been 

seriously harmed. 2-ER-159. Twitter’s attempts to minimize that harm should be 

rejected. 

Twitter’s argument that only limited conduct can constitute a “sex act” misses 

the mark. 1st Br. at 39. Congress did not limit “sex act[s]” to direct sexual 

encounters. In U.S. v. Bazar, this Court demonstrated the breadth of the term “sex 

act” in § 1591 by consulting two dictionaries. 747 Fed. Appx. 454, 456 (9th Cir. 

2018) (“sex act” defined as “relating to the instincts, physiological processes, and 

activities connected with physical attraction or intimate physical contact between 
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individuals.”) (emphasis added). Other courts that have addressed the meaning of 

“sex act” under § 1591 have similarly rejected placing categorical restrictions on the 

acts that may qualify. As one court put it, “Congress’s decision to use the modifier 

‘any’ within the phrase ‘any sex act’ in Section 1591(e)(3) suggests an intent to 

expand ‘sex act’ beyond a limited set of activities that involve contact between, or 

penetration by, two sets of genitalia.” Noble v. Weinstein, 335 F. Supp. 3d 504, 522 

(S.D.N.Y. 2018);  see also, U.S. v. Tollefson, 367 F. Supp. 3d 865, 878-80 (E.D. 

Wis. 2019) (masturbation considered a sex act under § 1591); Ardolf v. Weber, 332 

F.R.D. 467, 478 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (grabbing and fondling genitals considered sex 

act); and U.S. v. Marcus, 487 F. Supp. 2d 289, 306-7 (E.D.N.Y. 2007), vacated on 

unrelated, ex-post-facto grounds, 538 F.3d 97 (2d Cir. 2008), rev’d, 560 U.S. 258, , 

and aff'd in part, vacated in part, remanded, 628 F.3d 36 (2d Cir. 2010) (creation of 

pornography constitutes a sex act under § 1591).  

Twitter argues that the timing of the sex act and the exchange for value 

matters. 1st Br. at 41, n. 8; 48.  It does not. A “commercial sex act” is “any sex 

act…on account of which anything of value is given to or received by any person.” 

It does not matter when the sex act occurred or when value is given or received. 

Indeed, it does not even matter if a sex act ultimately never takes place27—only that 

 

27 See, U.S. v. Todd, 627 F.3d 329, 333-34 (9th Cir. 2010) (“When an act of 
Congress requires knowledge of a future action, it does not require knowledge in 
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something of value is given or received “on account of” the sex act. See U.S. v. Haas, 

986 F.3d 467, 478 (4th Cir. 2021) (finding trafficker “recruite[d],” "entice[d]” and 

“solicit[ed]” individuals to participate in commercial sex act where he expressed 

interest in procuring them to make child pornography).  

Additionally, Twitter incorrectly claims that the phrase “will be caused to 

engage in a commercial sex act” in § 1591 means that only sex acts in the future are 

covered by the statute.  See 1st Br. at 48, 57.  But this interpretation would lead to 

an absurd result. It would mean a hotel receiving payment at checkout from a 

trafficker (where the hotel benefits after the sex act) would not be on the hook, but 

a hotel receiving payment up front from someone they knew was a trafficker would 

be, even if the police were called and intervened before the commercial sex act 

actually took place at the hotel.  And it would mean that someone who profits once 

from something that might not happen is more liable than someone who profits 

thousands of times from something that definitely did happen. 

In this case, the sex act occurred, immediately generated value for the original 

traffickers, and then continued to command a regular exchange of value on Twitter. 

 

the sense of certainty as to a future act.”); U.S. v. Brooks, 610 F.3d 1186, 1197 n.4 
(9th Cir. 2010) (§ 1591 standard met where defendant “did not ultimately engage 
in any acts of prostitution.”); and U.S. v. Wearing, 865 F.3d 553, 555-56 (7th Cir. 
2017) (collecting cases).  
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Ironically, however, from the moment Twitter was alerted to the CSAM’s presence 

on its platform, seven future days of harm and trafficking occurred, meeting 

Twitter’s heightened expectation. The strong user interest in the CSAM depicting 

Plaintiffs is unquestionably “on account of” the sex act that the CSAM 

memorializes. 2-ER-155 ¶¶ 124-25. As thousands of exchanges of value for the 

CSAM were taking place on its platform, Twitter was not free to knowingly facilitate 

and profit from those abusive exchanges simply because the original trafficking act 

had already taken place.  

The question of whether images of sex trafficking can constitute a “sex act” 

under § 1591 and 1595 is a matter of first impression in this Circuit. Twitter contends 

that § 1591 cannot be violated through image-based sexual abuse and argues that the 

District Court’s conclusion that CSAM can constitute a commercial sex act is 

“unprecedented.” 1st Br. at 14, 39-40. But it is Twitter that has failed to offer a single 

case for its categorical assertion that image-based abuse can never be a commercial 

sex act. Indeed, all the available authority, cuts against Twitter’s position. One court 

has directly rejected a defendant’s argument that §1591 does not apply where “the 

commercial gain resulted from the depiction of sex acts rather than from the acts 

themselves.” Marcus, 487 F.Supp.2d at 306.  

The statutory language provides no basis for limiting the sex acts at 
issue to those in which payment was made for the acts themselves; 
rather, the use of the phrase “on account of which” suggests that there 
merely needs to be a causal relationship between the sex act and an 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 47 of 95



 
41 

exchange of an item of value. If Congress had intended to limit the 
commercial sex acts reached by the statute to prostitution, it could have 
easily drafted the statute accordingly. 
 

Id. (emphasis added). Moreover, at least two courts have specifically agreed with 

the District Court’s decision that child pornography can constitute a commercial sex 

act. Doe #1 v. MG Freesites, LTD, No. 7:21-CV-00220-LSC, 2022 WL 407147, at 

*19 (N.D. Ala. Feb. 9, 2022); Doe v. Mindgeek USA Inc., 558 F. Supp. 3d 828, 840 

(C.D. Cal. 2021), adhered to on denial of reconsideration, No. 

SACV2100338CJCADSX, 2021 WL 5990195 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 2, 2021).  

In U.S. v. Tollefson, the Wisconsin District Court upheld a criminal claim 

under § 1591(a) where a 13-year-old girl sent pornographic images of herself over 

the internet to the Defendant after being solicited to do so. U.S. v. Tollefson, 367 F. 

Supp. 3d 865, 878-880 (E.D. Wis. 2019). The defendant used online chatting to 

convince a child to masturbate to create CSAM. Id. at 879. The defendant in 

Tollefson argued that the “conduct Congress intended to punish with Section 1591… 

is the commercial sexual abuse of minors, not the online exchange of photos and 

videos of masturbation. Id. at 878. The Tollefson court rejected this argument. The 

court looked to the plain language meaning of the phrase “sex act” from § 1591’s 

definition of “commercial sex act.” After reviewing dictionary definitions for the 

term, the court concluded: 

The Court finds that the ordinary meaning of sex act does not require 
physical contact; it includes masturbation. The narrowest definitions 
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cited by Tollefson (and which the Court found independently) limit 
“sex act” to the ultimate sexual act—intercourse. The statute is clear 
that “sex act” includes more than just intercourse: it defines 
“commercial sex act” as “any sex act, on account of which anything of 
value is given to or received by any person.” 18 U.S.C. § 1591(e)(3) 
(emphasis added). The inclusion of the word “any” indicates that more 
than one type of sex act—i.e., not just the ultimate sex act, 
intercourse—is encompassed in the definition. Therefore, the narrowest 
definition clearly does not apply. . .  
 

Id. at 879–80 (emphasis added). Twitter attempts to distinguish Tollefson saying “the 

‘act’ in that case was the victim’s physical act in a real-time exchange with her 

traffickers.” 1st Br. at 41. But the definition of “commercial sex act” is broad enough 

to encompass a sex act that has been memorialized into an image or video and broad 

enough to encompass the continued monetization of the act. § 1591(e)(3). 

In U.S. v. Flanders, the Eleventh Circuit upheld a sentence for direct sex 

trafficking charges for adults who were defrauded into participating in modeling, 

only to be drugged and filmed engaging in sex acts with the Defendant while 

drugged. U.S. v. Flanders, 752 F.3d 1317, 1330 (11th Cir. 2014). In Flanders, the 

Court found that recording and distributing imagery of sex trafficking over the 

internet “magnified and perpetuated” the victims’ harm and “prolonged the victim’s 

pain and humiliation.” Id. at 1341-42.   

From the outset of the TVPA, Congress acknowledged that sex trafficking 

includes sexual exploitation through images and video. In the legislation originally 

codifying § 1591, Congress specifically found that pornography was a form of 
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sexual exploitation “involving activities related to prostitution, pornography, sex 

tourism, and other commercial sexual services. ”28 

Twitter’s attempts to argue that CSAM can never be a commercial sex act 

ignores the tragic reality of why CSAM is so harmful. The injury to the child is 

twofold: (1) the child’s initial sexual abuse, and (2) the creation and dissemination 

of images or videos creating a permanent record of that abuse.  Paroline v. United 

States, 572 U.S. 434, 439–40 (2014). When it comes to CSAM, distribution is not 

separate from the initial abuse; rather, it’s a part of the abuse and is integrally 

intertwined with it.  Id.  In fact, “the harm to the child” from the distribution of such 

child porn “is exacerbated by [its] circulation.”  Id. (quoting New York v. Ferber, 

458 U.S. 747, 759 (1982)). When child pornography is viewed, possessed, or 

distributed, the sexual abuse to the victim in the images is “in effect repeated” and 

with each view, the victim is “abused over and over and over again.”  Id. at 441. As 

such, the ongoing possession, viewing, and distribution of the CSAM depicting the 

Plaintiffs by Twitter is a continuation of the original harm.  

The District Court correctly held that Plaintiffs plausibly alleged the CSAM 

depicting them constitutes a “commercial sex act” under § 1591. 

 

28 Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000, PL 106–386, 
October 28, 2000, 114 Stat 1464 at § 102(b)(2) and (14) (emphasis added) 
(currently codified at 22 U.S.C. § 7101). 
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II. The District Court correctly interpreted the FOSTA amendment to CDA 
230.  

Congress amended Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act to 

clarify that it should not be construed to limit or impair claims “brought under 

section 1595 of Title 18, if the conduct underlying the claim constitutes a violation 

of section 1591 of that title.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(5)(A). “There is no question,” the 

District Court found, “that FOSTA is a remedial statute in that it carves out 

exceptions to CDA § 230 immunity, thereby affording remedies to victims of sex 

trafficking that otherwise would not have been available.” 1-ER-41. See, generally, 

Scarborough v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co., 178 F.2d 253, 258 (4th Cir. 1949) (“Remedial 

statutes should be liberally construed and should be interpreted (when that is 

possible) in a manner tending to discourage attempted evasions by wrongdoers.”) 

Yet Twitter urges an interpretation of this language that undermines the 

statute’s plain text and would sharply limit the claims that victims of technology-

based trafficking can bring forward.  

First, Twitter’s interpretation adds a new word to the statute. Twitter seizes 

upon the phrase “conduct underlying the claim” in Section 230(e)(5)(A) and reads it 

to require that civil claims can only be brought when a civil defendant’s conduct 
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violates section 1591. 1st Br. at 21-24.29 Twitter essentially reads the word 

“defendant” into the statute: “if the defendant’s conduct underlying the claim 

constitutes a violation of section 1591 of that title”. Twitter’s approach should be 

rejected because it effectively changes the words of the statute to give it a narrow, 

restrictive interpretation. The District Court’s interpretation should be upheld, for it 

resisted “reading words or elements into a statute that do not appear on its face.” 

United Cook Inlet Drft Ass’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Erv., 837 F.3d 1055, 1062 

(9th Cir. 2016) (quotation marks omitted).  

Second, Twitter doubles down on this interpretation with its “parallelism” 

argument. Twitter claims that only its interpretation of “conduct underlying” 

maintains consistency between similar phrases in FOSTA’s civil sex-trafficking 

provision (§230(e)(5)(A)) and Subsections (B) and (C), which deal with criminal 

prosecutions. 1st Br. at 25. Specifically, Twitter reasons that “[i]n subsections (B) 

and (C), ‘conduct underlying’ necessarily refers to the defendant’s ‘conduct’ 

 

29 In all events, the logic of Twitter’s argument is perplexing. Plaintiffs do allege 
that Twitter’s conduct violates 1591. 2-ER-159 at ¶¶ 152-55. Twitter apparently 
believes that “the conduct underlying the claim” can only mean the first instance of 
trafficking, which has no basis in the statue’s text. Twitter and its users’ re-
trafficking Plaintiffs and benefiting from it is also “conduct underlying” Plaintiffs’ 
claims. 
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because a ‘charge’ can only be brought against a criminal defendant.” Id.30 But rather 

than reading words into two sections of the statute, there is a much simpler 

interpretation. In both sections, the phrase “conduct underlying” serves to clarify 

that the claim and charge must be consistent with the federal definition of sex 

trafficking. Specifically, for a claim against financial beneficiaries under §1595 the 

Plaintiff must be a victim of sex trafficking according to §1591, and for a state 

criminal prosecution, the conduct underlying the charge, whatever the state law 

charge may be, must amount to a violation of §1591 for FOSTA to apply. This notion 

that websites may have to contend with varying standards was a point of particular 

concern raised by the tech industry while SESTA and FOSTA were being 

contemplated and this was Congress’s attempt to assuage the industry31. 

 

30 The District Court rejected this interpretation saying: “[T]here is no authority 
one way or the other as to whether subsection (B) permits a state law criminal 
prosecution for sex trafficking to be brought against an ICS provider under a 
statute with a less stringent mens rea requirement than has been found to apply to 
Section 1591(a) claims.” 1-ER-42 at n. 4.  
31 Interestingly, the Honorable Chris Cox testified on behalf of amici Netchoice 
before the Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism, and Homeland Security on this 
very issue. See Online Sex Trafficking and the Communications Decency Act: 
Written Test. of Chris Cox Before the Subcomm. on Crime, Terrorism, and 
Homeland Sec. of the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, 115th Cong., 1 Sess., p. 10 (Oct. 
3, 2017) http://web.archive.org/web/20210506134118/https://netchoice.org/wp-
content/uploads/2017-10-03-Testimony-of-Chris-Cox-on-behalf-of-NetChoice-
before-House-Judiciary-Subcommittee-on-Crime.pdf (“If every State were free to 
adopt its own policy governing when an internet platform will be liable for 
criminal or tortious conduct—that is to say, for the criminal and tortious conduct of 
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Additionally, one cannot assume that “conduct underlying the charge” and 

“conduct underlying the claim” have the exact same meaning, where one refers to 

criminal prosecution and the other civil lawsuits, in reference to a statute that 

explicitly has different sections of the statute for criminal versus civil liability. See 

Ratha v. Phatthana Seafood Co., 35 F.4th 1159, 1176 (9th Cir. 2022) (“When 

Congress uses certain language in one part of a statute and different language in 

another, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally.”) (quoting Nat’l 

Fed'n of Indep. Bus. v. Sebelius, 567 U.S. 519, 544 (2012). 

Third, Twitter’s interpretation ignores that the criminal and civil sections of 

the TVPRA represent two different liability structures.  It also seems to 

misunderstand the relationship between beneficiary violations (which can be 

criminal or civil) and direct violations.  See 1st Br. at 23.  Someone else’s conduct 

always underlies a claim or charge against a defendant to some extent if the 

defendant is being accused of a beneficiary violation. Beneficiary violations are, by-

definition, in this sense derivative. See 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2), (e)(4). So, it is not 

the case that “conduct underlying the claim” or even “conduct underlying the 

 

another—not only would compliance become oppressive, but the Federal policy 
itself would quickly become undone.”)  
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charge” must be read as equivalent to “defendant’s conduct underlying” the claim 

or charge. 

And finally, Twitter’s approach would turn FOSTA on its head—uniquely 

limiting the ability of sex-trafficking victims to seek justice. At each step in its logic, 

Twitter’s analysis advantages online platforms. It is Twitter’s approach and not the 

decision of the District Court that would upset the balance that Congress struck.   

With FOSTA, Congress clarified that “nothing in this section [] shall be 

construed to impair or limit any claim in a civil action brought under section 1595 

of Title 18, if the conduct underlying the claim constitutes a violation of section 1591 

of that title. . . .” 47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(5)(A). FOSTA in no way endorses the concept 

of “a broad grant of immunity to online platforms.” 1st Br. at 22, 35. Rather, it gives 

a specific direction of how Section 230 should not be interpreted. When Congress 

affirmatively directs against a particular construction the focus is on the specific 

interpretive command, not the creation or recognition of exceptions.32 Congress 

chose to include a “sense of congress” provision at the beginning of FOSTA, which 

 

32 See, e.g., Edward J. DeBartolo Corp. v. Fla. Gulf Coast Bldg. & Const. Trades 
Council, 485 U.S. 568, 582–83 (1988) (rejecting an interpretive “approach [that] 
treats the proviso as establishing an exception to a prohibition that would otherwise 
reach the conduct excepted.”); see also, Garnett By & Through Smith v. Renton 
Sch. Dist., No. 403, 987 F.2d 641, 645 (9th Cir. 1993) (interpreting “nothing . . . 
shall be construed” language as “designated as rules of construction, not 
exceptions to the Act.”). 
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declared that CDA 230 “was never intended to provide legal protection to websites 

that … facilitate traffickers in advertising the sale of unlawful sex acts with sex 

trafficking victims.” Allow States and Victims to Fight Online Trafficking Act of 

2017, Pub. L. No. 115-164, § 2 (Apr. 11, 2018).   

At the end of the day, the layers of semantics Twitter employs to read FOSTA 

narrowly do not hold together. The obvious aim of these interpretive contortions is 

to deny any possibility of a remedy under FOSTA, a statute Congress passed to 

enlarge remedies for victims of online trafficking. The District Court was correct 

that the more “natural” and “straightforward” reading of the statute “does not limit 

FOSTA’s exemption to a narrow subset of civil sex trafficking claims[.]” 1-ER-41—

42. 

ARGUMENT ON CROSS-APPEAL 
 

I. Plaintiffs’ CSAM claims against Twitter are not barred by CDA 230 
immunity and should not have been dismissed 

Plaintiffs’ claim under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2255 and 2252A should not have been 

dismissed because Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that Twitter violated federal laws 

involving CSAM, and CDA 230 does not immunize violations of federal laws 

providing civil recovery for victims of CSAM.   

Plaintiffs allege that Twitter has violated 18 U.S.C. § 2252A (a), which among 

other things, prohibits knowingly transporting, shipping, receiving, distributing, 
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reproducing, advertising, presenting, or possessing child pornography. Each 

predicate act can be accomplished “by any means” including “by computer.” 18 

U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(1-6).  

A. Twitter knew the video of Plaintiffs was CSAM 
The FAC details Twitter’s notice and knowledge. Specifically, the FAC 

alleges that Plaintiffs, both at the age of thirteen (13), were coerced by traffickers 

into creating sexually graphic images of themselves—images that constitute CSAM. 

2-ER-146 at ¶¶ 90-92. Three years later, Plaintiffs were horrified to learn the images 

were circulating on Twitter. 2-ER-147—49 at ¶¶ 99, 105-108. John Doe #1, 

contacted Twitter through its abuse-reporting system and put Twitter on notice of 

the illicit material by requesting that the CSAM be removed. After seven days of 

back and forth, in which Twitter verified the Plaintiffs’ ages, Twitter definitively 

refused to remove the CSAM, stating: “[w]e’ve reviewed the content, and didn’t find 

a violation of our policies, so no action will be taken at this time.” 2-ER-152 at ¶ 

120. And that Twitter had previously failed to take any action against one of the 

accounts distributing CSAM of Plaintiffs when it had been previously reported to 

Twitter for exactly this type of activity. 2-ER-156 at ¶¶ 130-31.  

Twitter, now with knowledge of the nature of the videos, did not remove the 

CSAM until it was required to do so by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security. 

2-ER-156 at ¶¶ 128-29. It took Twitter nine (9) days from the time it was first made 
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aware of the CSAM to remove it, resulting in astronomical numbers of views, 

retweets, and interactions with the illegal video. 2-ER-155 at ¶¶ 124-25.  

B. Twitter received, transported, advertised, presented, distributed, 
and possessed the CSAM 

Twitter received, transported, and/or distributed CSAM depicting the 

Plaintiffs on its platform. When the CSAM was posted to the Twitter platform, its 

robust content-sharing features, and its algorithm distribute the CSAM on a massive 

scale. 2-ER-125—127 at ¶¶ 23, 26-29; 2-ER-142—44 at ¶¶ 77, 82; 2-ER-162 at ¶ 

181.  Twitter users all over the world were able to download the CSAM directly 

from Twitter after it was transported and distributed to them through the Twitter 

platform, as well as screen-capture it for further transportation and distribution. 2-

ER-155 at ¶ 124.33 By storing the CSAM video on its server, allowing users the 

opportunity to view and retweet it, and in fact moving it through the platform to 

 

33 See generally, U.S. v. Wasson, 426 F. Supp. 3d 822, 827 (D. Kan. 
2019), aff'd, 847 F. App'x 523 (10th Cir. 2021) (under §2252A, “transported” 
means “to carry or convey from one place to another” and can be done through 
online platform); U.S. v. MacEwan, 445 F.3d 237, 244 (3d Cir. 2006) quoting U.S. 
v. Carroll, 105 F.3d 740, 742 (1st Cir. 1997) (the “transmission of photographs by 
means of the Internet is tantamount to moving photographs across state lines and 
thus constitutes transportation in interstate commerce”); U.S. v. Richardson, 713 
F.3d 232, 236 (5th Cir. 2013) (storing child pornography in a peer-to-peer 
accessible folder that allowed others the possibility to access the illegal material 
constituted “distribution” for purposes of § 2252A). 
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hundreds of thousands of people throughout the world, Twitter received, transported, 

and/or distributed the CSAM depicting Plaintiffs.   

Twitter advertised and presented the CSAM depicting Plaintiffs on its 

platform when it determined after review that the CSAM would continue to 

reverberate throughout the platform, drawing increased user engagement. Users 

commenting upon the CSAM remarked on the Plaintiffs’ apparent youth:  

“Is that kid a minor?”  

“it sure is”  

“they both are” 

“Nice boys” 

 “Is there a continuation for this?” 2-ER-153—54 at ¶ 121. As discussed by 

the District Court, Plaintiffs claims plausibly allege that Twitter advertised and 

presented Plaintiffs when the video was posted, retweeted, and viewed by users of 

the platform. 1-ER-34. 

Twitter knowingly possessed the CSAM depicting Plaintiffs on its platform. 

Possession in this context means that Twitter has knowledge of the presence of the 

CSAM and has dominion and control over the CSAM. U.S. v. Romm, 455 F.3d 990, 

1004 (9th Cir. 2006); U.S. v. Croghan, 973 F.3d 809, 825 (8th Cir. 2020). Twitter 

located and viewed the CSAM through its review process, and then declared its 

intention to continue possessing the CSAM, as well as to continue to allow others to 
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view it and possess it through the Twitter platform. 2-ER-155 at ¶ 120. This 

knowledge and intent was stated clearly by Twitter when it told John Doe #1 

“[w]e’ve reviewed the content…no action will be taken at this time.” Id.  

Accordingly, Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged the requisite elements of a 

violation of § 2252A. 

C. CDA 230 does not give civil immunity for personal injuries 
sustained through violations of involving CSAM  

In its MTD, Twitter did not contest that Plaintiffs had sufficiently alleged a 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A, nor the appropriateness of a civil action 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2255. Twitter’s sole contention was that it had Section 230 immunity from 

Plaintiffs’ CSAM claims. The District Court agreed. 1-ER-50—53. 

Paragraph (c)(1) of CDA 230 states “No provider or user of an interactive 

computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information 

provided by another information content provider.”  

The District Court found that Plaintiffs § 2252A claim treated Twitter as a 

publisher or speaker and was therefore barred under this provision. 1-ER52—53. 

This is wrong for two reasons. First, Plaintiffs’ § 2252A receipt and possession 

claims do not treat Twitter as the “publisher” or “speaker” of the CSAM. Second, 

Twitter’s knowing transport, distribution, reproduction, advertising, promoting, and 

presenting of CSAM is not immunized because CSAM is not information covered 

by Section 230—it is illegal contraband.  

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 60 of 95



 
54 

D. Plaintiffs’ 18 U.S.C. §§ 2252A and 2255 claims do not treat Twitter 
as a publisher or speaker  

The § 2252A claim encompasses Twitter’s alleged knowing acts concerning 

CSAM, including knowingly possessing the CSAM for several days after it had 

reviewed it. Recognizing the devastating harm to victims of CSAM, Congress has 

made knowing receipt and possession of CSAM illegal and equipped victims with 

multiple civil remedies—regardless of the defendant ever acting toward 

redistribution. 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(2), (5) (A—B).  Possessing and receiving 

CSAM is distinct from being a “publisher” or “speaker.” Once Twitter knew that it 

was in possession of CSAM depicting Plaintiffs, it was no longer in the position of 

making an “editorial” decision regarding the CSAM. Its only option was to report 

and remove the material, which it failed to do.34 

“The Communications Decency Act was not meant to create a lawless no-

man's-land on the Internet.” Fair Hous. Council of San Fernando Valley v. 

Roommates.com, LLC, 521 F.3d 1157, 1164 (9th Cir. 2008). A website that engages 

in or contributes materially to illegal conduct does not get to benefit from CDA 230 

immunity. Id. at 1168. Yet Twitter’s position is that it cannot be liable for knowing 

violations of § 2252A because the CSAM in question was posted on its platform by 

 

34 See 18 U.S.C. § 2258A (requiring that apparent violations of 2252A be reported 
to the National Center on Missing and Exploited Children).  
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a third party, even though third-party involvement is irrelevant to its knowing, illegal 

possession and distribution of the CSAM. This completely undermines the good-

faith basis upon which CDA-230 immunity is conveyed35 and distorts the purpose of 

the statute beyond recognition. 

 
         

E. CSAM is not “information” or speech and therefore 
publisher/speaker status does not apply  
 

CDA 230’s prohibition of ICS Providers from being treated as the speaker or 

publisher of “information” does not apply because CSAM is not information, nor 

speech or expression, but rather contraband. Indeed, it is outside of the protection of 

the First Amendment because of its uniquely harmful nature. See N.Y. v. Ferber, 458 

U.S. 747, 764 (1982) (CSAM is “without the protection of the First Amendment”).  

 

35 See Enigma Software Grp. USA, LLC v. Malwarebytes, Inc., 946 F.3d 1040 (9th 
Cir. 2019)(“Good Samaritan” provision of the CDA immunizes computer-software 
providers from liability for actions affirmatively taken to restrict or block obscene, 
lewd, lascivious, filthy, excessively violent, harassing, or otherwise objectionable 
content); Zango, Inc. v. Kaspersky Lab, Inc., 568 F.3d 1169 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Good 
Samaritan” provision of the CDA immunizes acts taken in furtherance of blocking 
materials that the provider determine to be obscene, lewd, lascivious, filthy, 
excessively violent, harassing, or otherwise objectionable). See also, Online Sex 
Trafficking and the Communications Decency Act: Written Test. of Chris Cox 
Before the Subcomm. on Crime, Terrorism, and Homeland Sec. of the H. Comm. on 
the Judiciary, 115th Cong., 1 Sess., p. 10 (Oct. 3, 2017) (“When web platforms 
actually do read and screen content, however, they are protected only to the extent 
they are ‘Good Samaritans.’”) 
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CSAM, or child pornography, is “intrinsically related to the sexual abuse of 

children.” Ferber, 458 U.S. at 759. As the Supreme Court recognized “the materials 

produced are a permanent record of the children’s participation and the harm to the 

child is exacerbated by their circulation.” Id. The Court also credited the 

observations of experts concerning what CSAM means for the future of its targets: 

Because the child’s actions are reduced to a recording, the pornography 
may haunt him in future years, long after the original misdeed took 
place. A child who has posed for a camera must go through life 
knowing that the recording is circulating within the mass distribution 
system for child pornography. 
… 
The victim's knowledge of publication of the visual material increases 
the emotional and psychic harm suffered by the child. 
 

New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 760 n. 10 (1982) (quoting from multiple 

published journals). The Court has also recognized a compelling state interest in 

targeting the “production” and “distribution” of child pornography. 458 U.S. at 759-

60. Similarly, in Osborne v. Ohio, the Court agreed with the government that “it will 

decrease the production of child pornography if it penalizes those who possess and 

view the product, thereby decreasing demand.” 495 U.S. 103, 109-10 (1990). 

“[D]emand for child pornography,” the Court has explained, “harms children in part 

because it drives production” and “the harm to the child is exacerbated by its 

circulation.” Paroline v. U.S., 572 U.S. 434, 439-40 (2014). The harms of CSAM 

and the State’s broad interests in protecting children are consistent with the multiple 

ways that interaction of every kind with CSAM is prohibited—from its initial 
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creation to its distribution to individual possession. Everyone has the same 

responsibility: the strictest obligation to not create, possess or distribute it. 

 
F. The District Court’s dismissal of Plaintiffs § 2252A claim lacks 

persuasive authority 
 

The District Court’s holding regarding Plaintiffs’ § 2252A claim is 

inconsistent with Section 230’s purpose, and rests on cases that are either 

distinguishable or erroneously misunderstood the CSAM issue. Notably, this issue 

is a matter of first impression for this Court. 

First, the District Court’s ruling below does not align with CDA 230’s 

purpose. Child protection is a paramount purpose of Section 230. See 47 U.S.C. § 

230(b)(4) (“It is the policy of the United States to remove disincentives for the 

development and utilization of blocking and filtering technologies that empower 

parents to restrict their children's access to objectionable or inappropriate online 

material.”).  

Congress never intended that Section 230 immunize civil CSAM claims. 

Since CDA 230 was enacted in 1996, Congress has twice codified civil remedies for 

18 U.S.C. § 2252A violations. Section 2252A specifically and repeatedly recognizes 

that the elements of the offense can be met “by any means, including by computer” 

and that liability for knowing distribution applies to “any child pornography”—
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regardless of the material’s publication status or whether it was originally created by 

a third party.  

In 1998, two years later, Congress expanded Masha’s Law, allowing civil 

remedies for violations of § 2252A and creating civil liability for possession and 

distribution of child pornography for all violators, including technology companies 

like Twitter. Congress’s intent is displayed by its decision to add civil liability only 

two years after enacting CDA 230.36  

Similarly, Congress modified § 2252A to include its own civil-remedies 

provision in 2003, seven years after the enactment of CDA 230.37 If Twitter, and the 

District Court, are correct that Section 230 precludes all civil liability for ISPs for 

CSAM produced by third parties, these later-enacted civil remedy and civil claims 

provisions would be meaningless in the online context.    

 “Congress must be presumed to have known of its former legislation ... and 

to have passed the new laws in view of the provisions of the legislation already 

enacted.” Owner-Operators Indep. Drivers Ass'n of Am., Inc. v. Skinner, 931 F.2d 

 

36 See Protection of Children from Sex Predators Act of 1998, PL 105-314, 112 
Stat 2974 at § 605 (1998) (adding 2252A to list of statutes civilly enforceable in 18 
U.S.C. § 2255). 
37 See Prosecutorial Remedies and Tools Against the Exploitation of Children 
Today Act of 2003 (“Protect Act”), PL 108–21, 117 Stat 650, § 510 (2003) (adding 
subparagraph (f) relating to civil remedies). 
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582, 586 (9th Cir. 1991) Moreover, “statutes must be construed together and effect 

given to all of them.” Id. “When two statutes are capable of co-existence, it is the 

duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed congressional intention to the contrary, 

to regard each as effective.” Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 551 (1974). Courts 

“read [] statutes to give effect to each if [they] can do so while preserving their sense 

and purpose.” Watt v. Alaska, 451 U.S. 259, 267 (1981). The District Court should 

have read CDA 230 and Masha’s Law so that they each could be fully effective. 

Instead, it read CDA 230 to completely void the civil remedy in § 2255 for CSAM 

injuries sustained online—one of the most common places for CSAM violations to 

occur. The District Court ultimately held that the § 2252A claim was barred by CDA 

§ 230 on the basis of Ninth Circuit precedent and two out-of-circuit cases. The 

District Court’s application of these precedents is incorrect. 

In holding that Twitter is immune from Plaintiffs’ §2252A claim, the District 

Court found that the claim “does not square” with this Court’s decision in Gonzalez 

v. Google. 1-ER-52 (citing Gonzalez v. Google LLC, et al., 2 F.4th 871, 886 (9th 

Cir. 2021). The Gonzalez decision, however, is distinguishable in that it addresses 

harmful online speech that is “potentially injurious,” but it does not address non-

speech and contraband. Id.   

In Gonzalez, this Court addressed three appeals brought by family members 

of victims of terrorist attacks; their claims were brought under the Anti-Terrorism 
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Act against Google, Twitter, and Facebook. This Court affirmed the dismissal of 

most of the claims and determined that most of the claims necessarily required that 

Google be treated as a publisher. Id. at 880, 891. “Publishing,” this Court found, 

“encompasses any activity that can be boiled down to deciding whether to exclude 

material that third parties seek to post online.” Id. at 892 (cleaned up). The Gonzalez 

plaintiffs’ claims that Google failed to prevent a terrorist group from using its 

platform to disseminate propaganda fit within “publishing.” This Court also 

determined that Google’s search engine functions and advertising were neutral tools 

that did not materially contribute to the illegality of the content on the platform. Id.  

In contrast to this case, the Gonzalez defendants’ platforms did not have the 

level of knowledge that Twitter does here, and the nature of the content is 

fundamentally different. Plaintiffs’ § 2255 and 2252A claim is not just about CSAM 

appearing on Twitter; it is about what Twitter did once it knew the CSAM was in its 

possession and on its platform—which is to say, Twitter did nothing. 2-ER-149—

52 at ¶¶ 110-119;161 at ¶¶ 171-72.  

Additionally, while abhorrent, possessing terrorist propaganda is not per se 

illegal, as is possessing CSAM.  However potentially dangerous or offensive, the 

Gonzalez content had at least presumptive First Amendment protection. In contrast, 

the CSAM depicting Plaintiffs is not speech, or information, but rather contraband 

– which is illegal to knowingly possess and/or distribute.  
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None of this Court’s decisions concerning dismissals of civil claims based on 

CDA 230 specifically have dealt with CSAM.38 To further support its dismissal of 

Plaintiffs’ § 2252A claim, the District Court turned to two out-of-circuit decisions. 

Neither decision, however, justifies dismissal here.  

First, in Doe v. Bates, a parent sued Yahoo! alleging that it knowingly hosted 

CSAM images, including images of their minor son. Doe v. Bates, 2006 WL 

3813758 *3-*6 (E.D. Tex. 2006). The plaintiffs argued that Yahoo! “knowingly 

profited from trafficking of illegal child pornography” and “did nothing to prevent, 

remove, or block the illegal child pornographic material from being stored on its web 

site or its servers….” Id. Yahoo! sought dismissal on the basis of CDA 230. The 

plaintiffs argued their civil child-pornography claim premised on 18 U.S.C. § 2252A 

does not only treat Yahoo! as a publisher or speaker, but also as a receiver and 

possessor of CSAM. Id. at *19.  

The Texas district court rejected this argument saying CDA 230 “generally 

creates a federal immunity to any cause of action that would make service providers 

 

38 The Gonzalez noted that websites were “leveraging new technologies to detect, 
flag, and remove large volumes of criminal content such as child pornography.” 2 
F.4th at 897 n. 11. That observation, however, was part of a colloquy with the 
dissent about actions that Congress may take in the future. Plaintiffs’ 2252A claim 
is not about Twitter’s CSAM-detection efforts—it is about the actions Twitter took 
after it learned of the CSAM of Plaintiffs and the resulting injury to Plaintiffs. 
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liable for information originating with a third-party of the service and have applied 

the immunity to a wide variety of claims regardless of the terms in which they were 

described.” Id. (quoting Zeran v. Am. Online, Inc., 129 F.3d 327, 330 (4th Cir. 

1997)). The Bates decision misapplied the 4th Circuit’s decision in Zeran, which 

invoked CDA 230 to a defamation claim.39  Quoting Zeran, the Bates court said the 

plaintiffs claim for civil injuries from CSAM sought to hold Yahoo! liable for a 

“publisher’s traditional editorial functions.” Id. at 20 (quoting Zeran 129 F.3d at 

330). But this misunderstands criminal and civil liability under 18 U.S.C. § 2252A. 

There are no “traditional editorial functions” for CSAM—it is illegal to create, 

receive, possess, distribute, promote, and advertise it. The Bates decision extends 

Zeran without warrant, by mistakenly equating CSAM with defamation. 

Constitutionally, alleged defamation has the protection of the First Amendment. See, 

e.g., New York Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964); Obsidian Financial Group, 

LLC v. Cox, 740 F.3d 1284, 1291 (9th Cir. 2014) (liability for an alleged defamatory 

blog post involving a matter of public concern cannot be imposed without proof of 

fault and actual damages). There is no constitutional protection for CSAM. It is 

contraband. See, e.g., Doe #1 v. MG Freesites, LTD, 2022 WL 407147, at *24 (N.D. 

Ala. Feb. 9, 2022) (“This Court disagrees with the Doe v. Bates court insofar as it 

 

39 Zeran v. Am. Online, Inc., 129 F.3d 327 (4th Cir. 1997). 
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treats child pornography in the same way courts have treated speech, such as 

defamatory statements, instead of treating it as illegal contraband.”). 

The District Court erred when it dismissed Count IV, Plaintiffs’ claim 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 2255 and 2252A, and its ruling should be reversed.    

 
II. Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged a direct sex-trafficking violation against 

Twitter, and the claim should not have been dismissed with prejudice. 

Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that Twitter knowingly obtained, provided, 

maintained, and advertised them, while knowing or recklessly disregarding that 

Plaintiffs were minor victims of commercial sexual exploitation.   

A. Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that Twitter knowingly obtained, 
provided, maintained, and advertised them. 

Direct sex trafficking occurs when someone “knowingly… recruits, entices, 

harbors, transports, provides, obtains, advertises, maintains, patronizes, or solicits 

by any means a person” knowing that the person is a minor and “will be caused to 

engage in a commercial sex act ….” 18 U.S.C.A. § 1591(a)(1).  

Section 1591(a) uses “incredibly broad” verbs, “devoid of any inherent 

limitation on the actor or his object.” U.S. v. Jungers, 702 F.3d 1066, 1071 (8th Cir. 

2013). The “ordinary and natural meaning” of provide, maintain, obtain, and “the 

other terms Congress selected in drafting § 1591 are broad enough to encompass the 

actions of both suppliers and purchasers of commercial sex acts.”  Id.  Congress 

chose not to limit the ways a person could be provided, obtained, maintained, or 
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advertised in violation of the provision, as evidenced by the sweeping phrase “by 

any means a person.” The word ‘any’ “has an expansive meaning – i.e. one or some 

indiscriminately of whatever kind.” Dep't of Hous. & Urb. Dev. v. Rucker, 535 U.S. 

125, 131 (2002). 

“Providing,” “obtaining,” and “maintaining” are undefined in §§ 1591 and 

1595.  When a statute includes an undefined term, Courts are to use the words’ plain 

meaning, as well as the structure of the statute as a whole, to comport with the 

statutory objective and policy.  Tanzin v. Tanvir, ___ U.S.___, 141 S.Ct. 486 (2020); 

U.S. v. Cox, 963 F.3d 915, 920 (9th Cir. 2020).  

According to the Merriam-Webster Dictionary, “provide” means “to supply 

or make available (something wanted or needed); “to make something available 

to.”40 The word  “maintain” means “to keep in an existing state (as of repair, 

efficiency, or validity) : preserve from failure or decline.”41 Maintain also means to 

keep in a condition of good repair or efficiency”; “to keep in existence; sustain.”42 

 

40Provide, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/provide (last visited May 31, 2022) (v.tr. defns. 1a and 1b). 
41Maintain, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/maintain (last visited May 31, 2022) (v.tr. defn. 1). 
42 Maintain, The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 5th ed., 
https://ahdictionary.com/word/search.html?q=maintain (last visited May 31, 2022) 
(v.tr. defns. 1-3, 4b, 5, and 7). 
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The word  “obtain” means “to gain or attain usually by planned action or effort.”43 

Obtain also means “to succeed in gaining possession of as the result of planning or 

endeavor; acquire.”44  

Plaintiffs alleged that John Doe # 1 and his mother contacted Twitter, alerting 

the platform to the presence of CSAM depicting both boys, provided proof of age 

and identification, and that after reviewing the posts and complaint, Twitter 

purposefully and deliberately maintained the CSAM and refused to remove the 

illegal content. 2-ER-149—52 at ¶¶ 112, 114, 115, 119, 120.  

Twitter’s knowing and deliberate decision to leave the CSAM of Plaintiffs sex 

trafficking and victimization on its platform ensured the CSAM would be repeatedly 

made available, acquired, and sustained across its platform to Twitter users wanting 

to view, interact with, and transmit CSAM. 2-ER-155 at ¶¶ 124-5. Plaintiffs allege 

that Twitter’s knowing, affirmative act—electing to leave the CSAM in place—

allowed it to be further disseminated, distributed, and monetized by Twitter, which 

constituted providing, obtaining, and maintaining commercial sex acts featuring the 

Plaintiffs.  2-ER-157 at ¶¶ 134, 137, 141.  

 

43 Obtain, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/obtain 
(last visited May 31, 2022) (v.tr. defn. 1). 
44 Obtain, The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 5th ed., 
https://ahdictionary.com/word/search.html?q=obtain (last visited May 31, 2022) 
(v.tr. defn. 1). 
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The District Court suggested that had Plaintiffs used an additional verb from 

§ 1591(a) and stated that Twitter “advertised” them in Count I of the FAC, it might 

have denied the MTD for the direct sex-trafficking claim. 1-ER-34. According to the 

Merriam-Webster Dictionary, “advertise” means “to make something known to,” or 

“to make publicly and generally known.”45 

And Plaintiffs did allege facts that Twitter’s knowing and deliberate acts 

amounted to advertising of the CSAM and that advertising sold by Twitter appear 

intermixed with posts related to CSAM. 2-ER-139 at ¶ 70; 2-ER-141 at ¶¶  76, 78-

79.). Additionally, Plaintiffs alleged that after Twitter reviewed and refused to 

remove the CSAM, hundreds of thousands of likes, shares, re-tweets resulted —

effectively advertising the CSAM depicting the Plaintiffs on a broad scale. 2-ER-

155 at ¶¶ 124-25.) Under the plain meaning of advertise, Plaintiffs have alleged that 

Twitter advertised Plaintiffs for the purposes of direct sex trafficking liability. 

The District Court’s insistence that Plaintiffs have not pled advertising 

because they did not specifically use that term in the cause of action for a direct-

trafficking violation under 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1) essentially holds Plaintiffs to a 

special pleading standard. Only “the circumstances constituting” allegations of fraud 

 

45Advertise, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/advertise (Last visited May 31, 2022) (all definitions). 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 73 of 95



 
67 

and mistake must be stated with particularity. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Otherwise, Rule 

8 only requires “a short and plain statement of the claim.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). In 

all events, the complaint put Twitter on notice that Plaintiffs alleged it directly 

violated 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1), and was supported by detailed factual allegations.  

Additionally, the Court dismissed the claim with prejudice, which was an 

error.  It is an abuse of discretion for a district court to dismiss with prejudice without 

determining that “that the pleading could not possibly be cured by the allegation of 

other facts.” Sharkey v. O'Neal, 778 F.3d 767, 774 (9th Cir. 2015); see also Lopez v. 

Smith, 203 F.3d 1122, 1127 (9th Cir. 2000).  

Far from determining that amendment would be futile, here, the District Court 

conceded that Plaintiffs’ complaint was close: “the word ‘advertises’[] might 

plausibly be read to fit the allegations in the FAC.” 1-ER-34 (emphasis added). The 

District Court should not have dismissed the direct-trafficking claim with prejudice, 

but rather should have allowed Plaintiffs to amend their complaint to restate the 

direct-trafficking claim using the specific verb “advertise” in Count I.  

Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that Twitter knowingly obtained, provided, 

maintained, and advertised them through CSAM for a commercial sex act. Plaintiffs 

have also alleged that Twitter knew their ages, that they had been coerced to create 

the CSAM through extortion, and that the abuse was continuing through widespread 

dissemination of its memorialization on Twitter’s platform. Thus, Plaintiffs have 
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plausibly alleged a direct-trafficking violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(1). The 

District Court’s ruling to the contrary should be reversed. 

CONCLUSION 
For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the District Court as to Plaintiffs’ 

beneficiary-liability claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a)(2) should be affirmed, and the 

district court’s decision as to Plaintiffs’ claims for CSAM distribution and 

possession under 18 U.S.C. § 2252A, direct-trafficking liability under 18 U.S.C. § 

1591(a)(1), and product liability should be reversed, and the case remanded for 

consideration of Plaintiffs’ claims on the merits.  

Date: August 4, 2022  
 

 Respectfully Submitted, 

 By: s/ Peter A. Gentala 
  Peter A. Gentala 
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ADDENDUM:  
TEXT OF STATUTORY AUTHORITIES 
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18 U.S.C. § 1591. Sex trafficking of children or by force, fraud, or coercion 
(a) Whoever knowingly— 

 
(1) in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, or within the special maritime 

and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, recruits, entices, harbors, transports, 
provides, obtains, advertises, maintains, patronizes, or solicits by any means a 

person; or 
 

(2) benefits, financially or by receiving anything of value, from participation in a 
venture which has engaged in an act described in violation of paragraph (1), 

 
knowing, or, except where the act constituting the violation of paragraph (1) is 

advertising, in reckless disregard of the fact, that means of force, threats of force, 
fraud, coercion described in subsection (e)(2), or any combination of such means 

will be used to cause the person to engage in a commercial sex act, or that the 
person has not attained the age of 18 years and will be caused to engage in a 

commercial sex act, shall be punished as provided in subsection (b). 
 

(b) The punishment for an offense under subsection (a) is— 
 

(1) if the offense was effected by means of force, threats of force, fraud, or 
coercion described in subsection (e)(2), or by any combination of such means, or if 
the person recruited, enticed, harbored, transported, provided, obtained, advertised, 

patronized, or solicited had not attained the age of 14 years at the time of such 
offense, by a fine under this title and imprisonment for any term of years not less 

than 15 or for life; or 
 

(2) if the offense was not so effected, and the person recruited, enticed, harbored, 
transported, provided, obtained, advertised, patronized, or solicited had attained the 
age of 14 years but had not attained the age of 18 years at the time of such offense, 

by a fine under this title and imprisonment for not less than 10 years or for life. 
 

(c) In a prosecution under subsection (a)(1) in which the defendant had a 
reasonable opportunity to observe the person so recruited, enticed, harbored, 
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transported, provided, obtained, maintained, patronized, or solicited, the 
Government need not prove that the defendant knew, or recklessly disregarded the 

fact, that the person had not attained the age of 18 years. 
 

(d) Whoever obstructs, attempts to obstruct, or in any way interferes with or 
prevents the enforcement of this section, shall be fined under this title, imprisoned 

for a term not to exceed 25 years, or both. 
 

(e) In this section: 
 

(1) The term “abuse or threatened abuse of law or legal process” means the use or 
threatened use of a law or legal process, whether administrative, civil, or criminal, 
in any manner or for any purpose for which the law was not designed, in order to 

exert pressure on another person to cause that person to take some action or refrain 
from taking some action. 

 
(2) The term “coercion” means— 

 
(A) threats of serious harm to or physical restraint against any person; 

 
(B) any scheme, plan, or pattern intended to cause a person to believe that failure 
to perform an act would result in serious harm to or physical restraint against any 

person; or 
 

(C) the abuse or threatened abuse of law or the legal process. 
 

(3) The term “commercial sex act” means any sex act, on account of which 
anything of value is given to or received by any person. 

 
(4) The term “participation in a venture” means knowingly assisting, supporting, or 

facilitating a violation of subsection (a)(1). 
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(5) The term “serious harm” means any harm, whether physical or nonphysical, 
including psychological, financial, or reputational harm, that is sufficiently serious, 

under all the surrounding circumstances, to compel a reasonable person of the 
same background and in the same circumstances to perform or to continue 

performing commercial sexual activity in order to avoid incurring that harm. 
 

(6) The term “venture” means any group of two or more individuals associated in 
fact, whether or not a legal entity. 

 
 

18 U.S.C. § 1595. Civil remedy 
 

(a) An individual who is a victim of a violation of this chapter may bring a civil 
action against the perpetrator (or whoever knowingly benefits, financially or by 

receiving anything of value from participation in a venture which that person knew 
or should have known has engaged in an act in violation of this chapter) in an 

appropriate district court of the United States and may recover damages and 
reasonable attorney’s fees.  

 
(b) 

 
(1) Any civil action filed under subsection (a) shall be stayed during the pendency 
of any criminal action arising out of the same occurrence in which the claimant is 

the victim.  
 

(2) In this subsection, a “criminal action” includes investigation and prosecution 
and is pending until final adjudication in the trial court.  

 
(c) No action may be maintained under subsection (a) unless it is commenced not 

later than the later of—  
 

(1) 10 years after the cause of action arose; or 
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(2) 10 years after the victim reaches 18 years of age, if the victim was a minor at 
the time of the alleged offense.  

  
(d) In any case in which the attorney general of a State has reason to believe that an 
interest of the residents of that State has been or is threatened or adversely affected 

by any person who violates section 1591, the attorney general of the State, as 
parens patriae, may bring a civil action against such person on behalf of the 

residents of the State in an appropriate district court of the United States to obtain 
appropriate relief.  

 
 
 

18 U.S.C § 2252A - Certain activities relating to material constituting or 
containing child pornography 

 
(a) Any person who— 

 
(1) knowingly mails, or transports or ships using any means or facility of interstate 

or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any 
means, including by computer, any child pornography; 

 
(2) knowingly receives or distributes— 

 
(A) any child pornography using any means or facility of interstate or foreign 

commerce or that has been mailed, or has been shipped or transported in or 
affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer; or 

 
(B) any material that contains child pornography using any means or facility of 

interstate or foreign commerce or that has been mailed, or has been shipped or 
transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including 

by computer; 
 

(3)  knowingly— 
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(A) reproduces any child pornography for distribution through the mails, or 

using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting 
interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer; or 

 
(B) advertises, promotes, presents, distributes, or solicits through the mails, or 

using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting 
interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, any material 

or purported material in a manner that reflects the belief, or that is intended to 
cause another to believe, that the material or purported material is, or contains— 

 
(i) an obscene visual depiction of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; or 

 
(ii) a visual depiction of an actual minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; 

(4) either— 
 

(A) in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, or on 
any land or building owned by, leased to, or otherwise used by or under the control 

of the United States Government, or in the Indian country (as defined in section 
1151), knowingly sells or possesses with the intent to sell any child pornography; 

or 
 

(B) knowingly sells or possesses with the intent to sell any child pornography that 
has been mailed, or shipped or transported using any means or facility of interstate 

or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any 
means, including by computer, or that was produced using materials that have been 
mailed, or shipped or transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by 

any means, including by computer; 
 

(5) either— 
 

(A) in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, or on 
any land or building owned by, leased to, or otherwise used by or under the control 

of the United States Government, or in the Indian country (as defined in section 
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1151), knowingly possesses, or knowingly accesses with intent to view, any book, 
magazine, periodical, film, videotape, computer disk, or any other material that 

contains an image of child pornography; or 
 

(B) knowingly possesses, or knowingly accesses with intent to view, any book, 
magazine, periodical, film, videotape, computer disk, or any other material that 

contains an image of child pornography that has been mailed, or shipped or 
transported using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or 

affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, or 
that was produced using materials that have been mailed, or shipped or transported 

in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by 
computer; 

 
(6) knowingly distributes, offers, sends, or provides to a minor any visual 

depiction, including any photograph, film, video, picture, or computer generated 
image or picture, whether made or produced by electronic, mechanical, or other 
means, where such visual depiction is, or appears to be, of a minor engaging in 

sexually explicit conduct— 
 

(A) that has been mailed, shipped, or transported using any means or facility of 
interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by 

any means, including by computer; 
 

(B) that was produced using materials that have been mailed, shipped, or 
transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including 

by computer; or 
 

(C) which distribution, offer, sending, or provision is accomplished using the mails 
or any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce, 

 
for purposes of inducing or persuading a minor to participate in any activity that is 

illegal; or 
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(7) knowingly produces with intent to distribute, or distributes, by any means, 
including a computer, in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, child 

pornography that is an adapted or modified depiction of an identifiable minor.[1] 
 

shall be punished as provided in subsection (b). 
 

(b) 
 

(1) Whoever violates, or attempts or conspires to violate, paragraph (1), (2), (3), 
(4), or (6) of subsection (a) shall be fined under this title and imprisoned not less 

than 5 years and not more than 20 years, but, if such person has a prior conviction 
under this chapter, section 1591, chapter 71, chapter 109A, or chapter 117, or 

under section 920 of title 10 (article 120 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice), 
or under the laws of any State relating to aggravated sexual abuse, sexual abuse, or 

abusive sexual conduct involving a minor or ward, or the production, possession, 
receipt, mailing, sale, distribution, shipment, or transportation of child 

pornography, or sex trafficking of children, such person shall be fined under this 
title and imprisoned for not less than 15 years nor more than 40 years. 

 
(2) Whoever violates, or attempts or conspires to violate, subsection (a)(5) shall be 

fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both, but, if any 
image of child pornography involved in the offense involved a prepubescent minor 

or a minor who had not attained 12 years of age, such person shall be fined under 
this title and imprisoned for not more than 20 years, or if such person has a prior 
conviction under this chapter, chapter 71, chapter 109A, or chapter 117, or under 

section 920 of title 10 (article 120 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice), or 
under the laws of any State relating to aggravated sexual abuse, sexual abuse, or 

abusive sexual conduct involving a minor or ward, or the production, possession, 
receipt, mailing, sale, distribution, shipment, or transportation of child 

pornography, such person shall be fined under this title and imprisoned for not less 
than 10 years nor more than 20 years. 

 
(3) Whoever violates, or attempts or conspires to violate, subsection (a)(7) shall be 

fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 15 years, or both. 
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(c) It shall be an affirmative defense to a charge of violating paragraph (1), (2), 
(3)(A), (4), or (5) of subsection (a) that— 

 
(1) 

 
(A) the alleged child pornography was produced using an actual person or persons 

engaging in sexually explicit conduct; and 
 

(B) each such person was an adult at the time the material was produced; or 
 

(2) the alleged child pornography was not produced using any actual minor or 
minors. 

 
No affirmative defense under subsection (c)(2) shall be available in any 

prosecution that involves child pornography as described in section 2256(8)(C). A 
defendant may not assert an affirmative defense to a charge of violating paragraph 

(1), (2), (3)(A), (4), or (5) of subsection (a) unless, within the time provided for 
filing pretrial motions or at such time prior to trial as the judge may direct, but in 
no event later than 14 days before the commencement of the trial, the defendant 
provides the court and the United States with notice of the intent to assert such 

defense and the substance of any expert or other specialized testimony or evidence 
upon which the defendant intends to rely. If the defendant fails to comply with this 

subsection, the court shall, absent a finding of extraordinary circumstances that 
prevented timely compliance, prohibit the defendant from asserting such defense to 

a charge of violating paragraph (1), (2), (3)(A), (4), or (5) of subsection (a) or 
presenting any evidence for which the defendant has failed to provide proper and 

timely notice. 
 

(d) Affirmative Defense.—It shall be an affirmative defense to a charge of 
violating subsection (a)(5) that the defendant— 

 
(1) possessed less than three images of child pornography; and 
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(2) promptly and in good faith, and without retaining or allowing any person, 
other than a law enforcement agency, to access any image or copy thereof— 

 
(A) took reasonable steps to destroy each such image; or 

 
(B) reported the matter to a law enforcement agency and afforded that agency 

access to each such image. 
 

(e) Admissibility of Evidence.— 
On motion of the government, in any prosecution under this chapter or section 

1466A, except for good cause shown, the name, address, social security number, or 
other nonphysical identifying information, other than the age or approximate age, 

of any minor who is depicted in any child pornography shall not be admissible and 
may be redacted from any otherwise admissible evidence, and the jury shall be 

instructed, upon request of the United States, that it can draw no inference from the 
absence of such evidence in deciding whether the child pornography depicts an 

actual minor. 
 

(f) Civil Remedies.— 
 

(1) In general.— 
Any person aggrieved by reason of the conduct prohibited under subsection (a) or 

(b) or section 1466A may commence a civil action for the relief set forth in 
paragraph (2). 

 
(2) Relief.—In any action commenced in accordance with paragraph (1), the court 

may award appropriate relief, including— 
 

(A) temporary, preliminary, or permanent injunctive relief; 
 

(B) compensatory and punitive damages; and 
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(C) the costs of the civil action and reasonable fees for attorneys and expert 
witnesses. 

 
(g) Child Exploitation Enterprises.— 

 
(1) Whoever engages in a child exploitation enterprise shall be fined under this 

title and imprisoned for any term of years not less than 20 or for life. 
 

(2) A person engages in a child exploitation enterprise for the purposes of this 
section if the person violates section 1591, section 1201 if the victim is a minor, or 

chapter 109A (involving a minor victim), 110 (except for sections 2257 and 
2257A), or 117 (involving a minor victim), as a part of a series of felony violations 

constituting three or more separate incidents and involving more than one victim, 
and commits those offenses in concert with three or more other persons. 
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18 U.S.C. § 2255 - Civil remedy for personal injuries 
 

(a) In General.— 
Any person who, while a minor, was a victim of a violation of section 1589, 1590, 
1591, 2241(c), 2242, 2243, 2251, 2251A, 2252, 2252A, 2260, 2421, 2422, or 2423 
of this title and who suffers personal injury as a result of such violation, regardless 

of whether the injury occurred while such person was a minor, may sue in any 
appropriate United States District Court and shall recover the actual damages such 

person sustains or liquidated damages in the amount of $150,000, and the cost of 
the action, including reasonable attorney’s fees and other litigation costs 

reasonably incurred. The court may also award punitive damages and such other 
preliminary and equitable relief as the court determines to be appropriate. 

 
(b) Statute of Limitations.—Any action commenced under this section shall be 

barred unless the complaint is filed— 
 

(1) not later than 10 years after the date on which the plaintiff reasonably discovers 
the later of— 

 
(A) the violation that forms the basis for the claim; or 

 
(B) the injury that forms the basis for the claim; or 

 
(2) not later than 10 years after the date on which the victim reaches 18 years of 

age. 
 

(c) Venue; Service of Process.— 
 

(1) Venue.— 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 90 of 95



 
84 

Any action brought under subsection (a) may be brought in the district court of the 
United States that meets applicable requirements relating to venue under section 

1391 of title 28. 
 

(2) Service of process.—In an action brought under subsection (a), process may be 
served in any district in which the defendant— 

 
(A) is an inhabitant; or 

 
(B) may be found. 

47 U.S.C § 230 - Protection for private blocking and screening of offensive 
material 

 
(a) Findings 

 
The Congress finds the following: 

 
(1) The rapidly developing array of Internet and other interactive computer 

services available to individual Americans represent an extraordinary advance in 
the availability of educational and informational resources to our citizens. 

 
(2) These services offer users a great degree of control over the information that 

they receive, as well as the potential for even greater control in the future as 
technology develops. 

 
(3) The Internet and other interactive computer services offer a forum for a true 
diversity of political discourse, unique opportunities for cultural development, and 

myriad avenues for intellectual activity. 
 

(4) The Internet and other interactive computer services have flourished, to the 
benefit of all Americans, with a minimum of government regulation. 

 

Case: 22-15103, 08/05/2022, ID: 12510069, DktEntry: 37, Page 91 of 95



 
85 

(5) Increasingly Americans are relying on interactive media for a variety of 
political, educational, cultural, and entertainment services. 

 
(b) Policy 

 
It is the policy of the United States— 

 
(1) to promote the continued development of the Internet and other interactive 

computer services and other interactive media; 
 

(2) to preserve the vibrant and competitive free market that presently exists for 
the Internet and other interactive computer services, unfettered by Federal or State 

regulation; 
 

(3) to encourage the development of technologies which maximize user control 
over what information is received by individuals, families, and schools who use the 

Internet and other interactive computer services; 
 

(4) to remove disincentives for the development and utilization of blocking and 
filtering technologies that empower parents to restrict their children’s access to 

objectionable or inappropriate online material; and 
 

(5) to ensure vigorous enforcement of Federal criminal laws to deter and punish 
trafficking in obscenity, stalking, and harassment by means of computer. 

 
(c) Protection for “Good Samaritan” blocking and screening of offensive material 

 
(1)  Treatment of publisher or speaker 

No provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the 
publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information content 

provider. 
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(2)  Civil liability 
 

No provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be held liable on 
account of— 

 
(A) any action voluntarily taken in good faith to restrict access to or availability of 
material that the provider or user considers to be obscene, lewd, lascivious, filthy, 

excessively violent, harassing, or otherwise objectionable, whether or not such 
material is constitutionally protected; or 

 
(B) any action taken to enable or make available to information content providers 
or others the technical means to restrict access to material described in paragraph 

(1). 
 

(d) Obligations of interactive computer service 
A provider of interactive computer service shall, at the time of entering an 

agreement with a customer for the provision of interactive computer service and in 
a manner deemed appropriate by the provider, notify such customer that parental 

control protections (such as computer hardware, software, or filtering services) are 
commercially available that may assist the customer in limiting access to material 
that is harmful to minors. Such notice shall identify, or provide the customer with 

access to information identifying, current providers of such protections. 
 

(e) Effect on other laws 
 

(1) No effect on criminal law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair the enforcement of section 223 

or 231 of this title, chapter 71 (relating to obscenity) or 110 (relating to sexual 
exploitation of children) of title 18, or any other Federal criminal statute. 

 
(2) No effect on intellectual property law 

Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit or expand any law pertaining to 
intellectual property. 
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(3) State law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent any State from enforcing any 

State law that is consistent with this section. No cause of action may be brought 
and no liability may be imposed under any State or local law that is inconsistent 

with this section. 
 

(4) No effect on communications privacy law 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the application of the Electronic 

Communications Privacy Act of 1986 or any of the amendments made by such 
Act, or any similar State law. 

 
(5) No effect on sex trafficking law 

 
Nothing in this section (other than subsection (c)(2)(A)) shall be construed to 

impair or limit— 
 

(A) any claim in a civil action brought under section 1595 of title 18, if the conduct 
underlying the claim constitutes a violation of section 1591 of that title; 

 
(B) any charge in a criminal prosecution brought under State law if the conduct 

underlying the charge would constitute a violation of section 1591 of title 18; or 
 

(C) any charge in a criminal prosecution brought under State law if the conduct 
underlying the charge would constitute a violation of section 2421A of title 18, and 

promotion or facilitation of prostitution is illegal in the jurisdiction where the 
defendant’s promotion or facilitation of prostitution was targeted. 

 
(f) Definitions 

 
As used in this section: 
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(1) Internet 

The term “Internet” means the international computer network of both Federal and 
non-Federal interoperable packet switched data networks. 

 
(2) Interactive computer service 

The term “interactive computer service” means any information service, system, or 
access software provider that provides or enables computer access by multiple 

users to a computer server, including specifically a service or system that provides 
access to the Internet and such systems operated or services offered by libraries or 

educational institutions. 
 

(3) Information content provider 
The term “information content provider” means any person or entity that is 

responsible, in whole or in part, for the creation or development of information 
provided through the Internet or any other interactive computer service. 

 
(4) Access software provider 

The term “access software provider” means a provider of software (including client 
or server software), or enabling tools that do any one or more of the following: 

 
(A) filter, screen, allow, or disallow content; 

 
(B) pick, choose, analyze, or digest content; 

or 
 

(C) transmit, receive, display, forward, cache, search, subset, organize, reorganize, 
or translate content. 
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